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ADMIRALTY PAPER CHARTS

The United Kingdom Hydrographic Office

James Cropper Speciality Papers Limited supplies water-
marked paper to the UK Hydrographic Office for use in
the production of Admiralty charts These charts require
paper that 1s strong, smooth and dimensionally stable in
large sheet form to be able to withstand the ngours of
repeated use on board vessels

The UK Hydrographic Office produces a global range of
electronic and paper nautical charts, publications and
sarvices for naval, commercial, emergency service and
leisure users These have been developed over 200
years and use the very latest techriques to continue to
help protect lives at sea today

The UK Hydrographic Office’s processes comply with the
exacting standards of the Safsty of Life at Sea {SOLAS)
Regulations worldwide and are also certified to

ISO9001 2000 Efficient systems allow the UK
Hydrographic Office to promptly advise ship owners of
revisions and to distribute charts worldwide The paper s
watermarked to allow proof of Admiralty production
Despite the growth of electronic methods of navigational
aids the paper chart i1s still considered the most reliable
method of ensuring safety at sea

Nautical charts have been in use since devised by the
Dutch in 1584 when Lucas Waghenaer produced his
sailing guide the *Spieghel der Zeevaerdt® or manners'
mirror The Dutch dominated the chart market for the next
century to the extent that the author's name was
colloquialised to Waggoner and all sea charts became
called ‘waggoners' The French formed the first official
government mapping agency in 1720, with the British
Admuralty establishing the Hydrographic Office in 1795
With the growth of Briush economic and naval influence
Admiralty charts became universal in coverage and used
throughout the World, a situation that continues to the
present day.

© Crown Copynght and/or database nghts Reproduced by
parmission of the Controller of Her Majesty s Stationery Office
and the UK Hydrographic Office (www ukho gov uk)
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Admiralty charts are still considered
essential on most ships Any vessel
registered on the Lloyds List must use
current Admuiralty charts otherwise it
would lose its insurance cover Charts
need to present an accurate profite of
the seabed and coast with up to date
markings showing such transient
features as sand bars and wrecks This
need for current accuracy means that a
significant part of the UK Hydrographic
Office's activities 1s devoted to producing
revisions of existing charts

Admiralty Standard Nautical Charts are
ideal for professional, commercial and
recreational use Charts within the senes
consist of a range of scales, useful for
passage planning, ocean crossings,
coastal navigation and entering port
Manners should always use the largest
scala nautical chart appropriate to therr
needs The UK Hydrographic Office
produces over 3,300 Standard Nautical
Charts and a wide range of thematic
charts for specialist requirements that
provide additional information which can
be used alongside the Standard Nautical
Charts

These include

The World Time Zone Chart

This chart was oniginally devised so that
manners, in any part of the world, could
relate their local time to standard
Greenwich Mean Time The course of
the Internatianal Date Line 1s depicted

Admiralty Routeing Charts

These charts are essential for use In
passage planning for ocean voyages.
They include routes and distances
between major ports, ocean currents, Ice
limits, load lines and wind roses, with
expected meteorological and
oceanographic conditions for each
month of the year Five charts cover the
oceans of the world, North Atlantic,
South Atlantic, North Pacific, South
Pacific and the Indian Ocean

Admiralty Routeing Guldes

Routeing Guides prowide important
passage planning information in addition
to details of traffic separation schemes
for the major shipping areas of the
English Channel, North Sea, Gulf of
Suez, Malacca and Singapore Strarts

Planning Charts

Planning Charts are designed to assist
the planning process and can also be
used for educational, travet and
decorative purposes They are a senes
of small scale charts covering significant
ports throughout the world that are
available in vanous scales

Co-tidal Charts

Co-tidal and Co-range Charts are used
primanty to predict offshore tidal
condittons

Astronomical Charts

Astronomical Charts facilitate the
accurate plotting of a ship's position
from astronomical observations

Gnomonic Charts

These charts are used In passage
planning to plot great circle routes as a
straight ine They are useful for devising
composite rhumb line courses

Magnetic Variation Charts

These charts show the vanation of
magnetic fields While local information
15 shown on all charts, this senes
provides more detailed coverage on a
worldwide level

Mateorclogical Charts and Diagrams
These charts form a senes of 27
meteorological working charts

Hydrographic and oceanographic
surveying 1s the responsibility of the
Royal Navy's Surveying Service, which
has been operating throughout the world
since the formation of the Hydrographic
Office The Surveymng Flotilta consists of
ocean-going ships, coastal vessels and
inshore craft In addition to surveying in
overseas areas, ships of the flotilla are
constantly engaged in updating the
charts coverning the waters around the
United Kingdom To carry out these
wide-ranging tasks the latest surveying
techniques are employed, including
digitised echo sounders, side scan
sonars, automated plotting and
recording of position, depth, gravity and
magnetic parameters Satellite and
inertial navigation systems are used
when out of range of shore-based
position fixing systems Systematic
survey of the UK's coastal waters 1s also
carried out by the Martime and
Coastguard Agency
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Our Company Goal

To prosper and grow through developing a portfolio of complementary and successful
business activities

Our Values

The beliefs and standards by which we will deliver our Company Goal

= Improving profitability and having the dnive to succeed

= An absolute commitment to safety and the environment

* Valuing customaers as the lifebload of cur business

* Developing the potental of our employees In a simulating and enjoyable workplace
« Treating everyohe with dignity and respect

* Being enthusiastic about doing things better

* Making a positive contribution to our community

» Having integrity and high standards in everything we do




PRIDE AWARDS

2009

The Pride Awards were introduced in 2009 Employees are nominated by their colleagues for special
merit under the following categories that murror the Group's values, Winners are selected by a panel
comprising employees across the Group

Safety Improvement
Winner
Peter Lighttey (JCSP - Raw Materials Team Leader)
Peter was nominated for his pro active and enthusiastic
approach to hazard spotting and corrective action

The Community
Joint Winner
Hetena Welss {IT Support)
Helena was nominated for her long standing voluntary
and unpaid work at weekends for the St John's
Ambulance throughout the local area

Joint Winner
Shaun O'Sulllvan (Engineenng Project Manager)
Shaun was nominated for his work as Secretary of the
Bryce Institute, Burneside

Support for Colleagues
Winner
Keith Duckett {(JCSP Engineenng Craftsman)
Keith was nominated for his ability and willingness to
help others, especially our engineering apprentices

Innovation & Creativity
Winner
Nell Harrison (JCSP Engineering Craftsman)
Neil was nominated for his ability to create solutions to
problems encountered by the Engineenng Department

Customer Service
Internal Customer Winner
Simon Willacy {JCSP Embosser Operator)
Whiist on secondment to the Planning Department,
Simon demonstrated his hugh level of commitment to
customer service His proactive approach to the role
resulted in an improvement in delivery performance

External Customer Winner
Lynda Little (TPMS Supervisor, Antrim)
Lynda was nominated for her helpfulness to customers
and enthusiasm for our products She often spends
hours at home producing samples for demo days

Taking Pride
Winner
Andrew Prosser (JCSP UK Sales Manager)
Andrew was nominated for actively demonstrating pnde
in his work with customers and colleagues throughout
his career He has made a signtficant contribution to the
business through his enthusiasm and positive attitude
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REFLECTIONS OF A CHAIRMAN

The year Just past

| am delighted to report, In my final year as Chairman, that the
profit before tax has increased from £858,000 to £2,416,000, in
a year still affected by the recesston and that we have been
able to restore and increase the dividend Prior to the IAS 19
net pension charge the Group recorded a trading profit befere
tax of £3,297,000 compared to £1,108,000 in 2009

The star performer of the four subsidiaries has been James
Cropper Speciality Papers (“Speciality Papers”) with operating
profit of £3,437,000 as against a loss of £310,000 last year
Profitability benefited from a reduction in the cost of gas and
pulp in the first six months from the exceptional high levels of
twelve months age However pulp prices rose sharply in the
second half of the year, the costs of which were mitigated by
an merease in turnover of 6%

Techmical Fibre Products (*TFP™) suffered from a substantial
reduction in turnover in the first half year as customers de-
stocked but has since recovered well

Continuity and Ambition

| became the fifth generation of my family to become
Chairman on 31 March 1971, 39 years ago, when my cousin
Derek Willink retired as Chairman after taking over on the early
death of my father in 1967 The Willink family connection has
continuad with both hus son Nicholas and now his grandson,
Patnick, serving on the Board

It was my ambition then and now for the Company to grow
substantially and prosper as an independent business with
farmily involvement and shareholding in a contracting paper
industry 1 am proud that we have achieved this in an industry
which in the UK has seen a reduction in the number of paper
mills from 195 in 1970 to 48 today The profitability of the
Group and family shareholding enabled us to successiully
resist the many approaches to surrender our independence
during this long peniod of paper industry contraction

In my 43 years as a director there have only been three years
when we have made small losses The last two in 2001 and
2006 were when pulp and energy costs respectively more
than doubled.

James Cropper with retirtng Chief Engineer Jim Hill and
Mrs Hill by one of the new gas and ol fired borlers, 1974

Modemnisation
Continued modernisation has been a key element of our
success over my penod of Charmanship

A £40 million reconstruction programme from 1974 to 1991
saw the building of three new Fourdnnier machines and the
modernisation of a fourth This doubled capacity and enabled
us to withdraw from making crude and strong papers with the
closure of thrae MG paper machines to become a world class
producer of coloured and specialised grades at higher
margins

Nick Willink, Managing Director of the then Papermaking
Division and Peter Chartton, Engineerning Director together led
the major engineenng projects John Larking, Sales Director,
was the driving force behind the radical modermisation of the
sales and marketing strategy which doubled our sales
tonnage from 22, 000 tonnes in 1867 Oliver Acland, Personnsl
Director, focused on modernising the workplace and creating
a skilled and knowledgeable workforce through training and
personal development Our employees enthusiastically
embraced the many operating changes and the Company
became a financially rewarding, fairer and much safer
workplace

John Sclater and John Southwell, our two non-executive
directors at the trme, gave me axtansive support over this
period With therr help | managed to obtain supportive
bankers and lessors for borrowings that peaked in 1991 at £21
million, with a gearing level of 110% At the close of the past
financial year geanng was nil'

Diversification

Ancther key element of our success was the dectsion In the
mid 1980’s to diversify into other paper related businesses
John Larking pioneered the establishment of TFP in 1984 and
the Converting Division in 1987, with separate manufacturing
facilities being prowided in 1987 and 1894 respectively Our
strategy was to create businesses less reliant on the vagaries
of the pulp pricing cycle which that can so dramatically effect
the profits of Speciality Papers

| have baen fortunate to have had an able new team of
directors that consolidated this strategy under Alun Lewis who
took over from me as Chief Exacutive in 2001  This was
graphically llustrated in 2008/03 with TFP making an
operating profit of £2 million as against the loss of £310,000 In
Speciality Papers

The Board, 1989 From leit to nght Oliver Acland, Nick Willink,
James Cropper, Peter Charfon, John Larking, John Southwell
The team that drove forward the Modernisation and
Diversification Programme from 1974 - 1991




1971-2010

My perscnal highlights

It has been very difficult for me to pick cut the personal
highlights of my career as Chairman but my top 10 must be

1974

The commssioning of four gas and oil fired boers that
replaced coal fired boiters by our reting Chief Engineer Jim
Hill This event also marked the closure of our tramway
connection that brought coal directly into the mull from the mamn
rail network

1980

The rebullding of our No 4 twin-wire Fourdrinier Machine, a key
element In our modernisation programme, at a cost of over £4
million helped by Government grants of £1 1 mdlion

1988 - 1990
Being President of The Paper Federation of Great Britain

1989

The celebration of our 100th Annual General Meeting since
becoming a imited company, with Viscount Whitelaw as our
chief guest

1991

The replacement of No 3 MG Machine with a single-wire
Fourdrninier Machine, the most expensive project in the Group's
history at a cost of £10 milion It produced good paper within
two hours of starling up!

1992
The visit of HRH Princess Alexandra to our Ml

1992

The presentation of the Order of the Lion of Finland to me by
the Finnish Ambassador to mark the 76th Annversary of
Fincell, the Finnish central pulp buying orgamisation and our
association as one of their onginal customers

1995

The 150th Anniversary of the Group's founding with three days
of celebration for distnguished guests from our industry,
customers, supphers and county, followed by a Fun Day for all
of our employees and their families

1996

Our most profitable year to date, with Profit before Tax of
£5million, resulting from benign pulp prices throughout and a
more than full order book. A target for the new Chairman to
achieve as soon as possible!

2004

Mark Cropper published his book The Leaves We Write On', a
very well researched and receved history of James Cropper
plc

People

Over my penod as Chairman our success and continuing
existence has only been achieved through a loyal, dedicated
and hardworking team of directors, managers and workforce
and very supportive customers, suppliers, bankers and
shareholders

| am particularly pleased to be able to hand over at the Annual
General Meeting to my son Mark, as sixth generation
Charrman, a prosperous and substantial diversified business
employing 480 people at Burneside and 120 slsewhere

He will have every incentive and encouragement from our
Group Board to further improve the profitability of our long
standing Group and ensure we remain Independent

| thank all those involved for enabling me to achieve my

ambition of sustaining and growing the business founded by
my Great, Great Grandfather James Cropper in 1845

James Cropper
Charman

The team that consolidated the diversification strategy, left to right,
Nigel Read, George Quayle, David Wilks, Alun Lewss,John Sclater,
James Cropper, Patrick Willink, Peter Hernng, John Southwell,
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SUMMARY OF RESULTS

IFRS basis
Profit and Logs Summary £000 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Group turnover £°000 76,230 74,800 72,744 69,085 64,201
[Trading profit before interest 3,568 1,556 2,365 2,976 860
Depraciation 3,138 3,179 3,280 3,315 3,715
EBITDA (before IAS 19 pension adjustment) 6,706 4,735 5,645 6,291 4,575
Trading activities
Technical Fibre Products 1,327 2,099 1,426 2,053 7
Speciality Papers 3,437 (310) 1,281 1,435 (247}
Converting 446 406 548 460 62
The Paper Mill Shop (446) {388) {358) (358) 241
Other Group expenses (321) {19) (147) {86) -
4,443 1,788 2,750 3.504 833
Director and employee bonuses (875) (232) (324) (433) -
Trading operating profit 3,568 1,656 2,426 3,071 833
Profit on sale of trade investment - - - - 116
Jaint venture - - 81) (95) (89)
Trading profit before interest 3,568 1,556 2,365 2,976 860
Net interest 271) (448) (402) (438) 511)
Trading profit before tax 3,297 1,108 1,953 2,538 349
(After future service pension contributions paid)
Net IAS 19 penslon adjustments to
Operating profit (255) (476) (610) (610} (364)
Net interest (626) 226 227 179 (114)
Net IAS 19 pensilon adjustment before tax (881) {250) {383) (431) (478)
Overall Group after pension adjustments
Operating profit 3,313 1,080 1,816 2,481 469
Profit on sale of trade investment - - - - 116
Joint venture - - (61) (95) (89)
Profit before interest 3,313 1,080 1,755 2,366 496
Net interest {897) (222) (175) (259) (625)
Protit/{loss) betore tax 2,416 858 1,580 2,107 {129}
Earnings/{Losses) per Share - diluted 21.1p (1.0p} 14 0p 16.2p {1.2p)
Dividends per Share 7.5p 5.1p 7.3p 7.0p 41p
Balance Sheet Summary £'600
Non-pension assets - excluding cash 43,852 43,753 45,616 45,758 46,668
Non-pansion latilities - excluding borrowings {15,800} (12,592) (12,640} (13,505} {11,993)
28,052 31,161 32,976 32,253 34,675
Net IAS 19 pension deficit (after deferred tax) (10,210) (6,535) {1,299) (4,308) {7,221)
17,842 24,626 31,677 27,947 27,454
Net borrowings (31) {4,452) {6,018) (5,204} (8,595)
Equlity shareholders' funds 17,811 20,174 25,661 22,653 18,859
Gearing % - before IAS 19 deficht 0 17 22 20 33
Gearing % - after IAS 19 defictt 0 22 23 23 46
Capital Expenditure £'000 1,228 1,333 2,337 2,756 2,888

All reforencas to

1 “Trading Operating Profit” reters to profits pnor to income from joint ventures, other income and expenditure, interest on borrowings and
“Net IAS 19 pension adjustment”

2 “Trading Profit before Tax" refers to profits prior to “Net {AS 19 pension adjustment”

3 “Net IAS 19 pansion adjustment” in the Profit and Loss Account refer to the net impact on the Profit and Loss Account of the pension schemes'
operating costs and finance costs, as descnbed in the IAS 19 section of the Financial Review
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DIRECTORS, BANKERS & ADVISERS

Chairman

James A Cropper, BA, FCA — Born 1938 - 15 the great, great
grandson of the founder He joined the Company In 1966
He became Non-Executive Chairman in 2001 He s also
Lord-Lieutenant of Cumbna James Cropper will resign as
Chairman following the AGM on 28 July 2010 but will remain
a Non-Executive Director

Deputy Chalrman

Mark Cropper, MA - Born in 1974

He joined the Board in 2006 and became Deputy Chairman
in Apnl 2008 Mark Cropper is the sixth generation of the
Cropper family to be involved In the business He is
managing director of Ellergreen Hydro Ltd, a developer of
hydro-electric projects, and senior consultant to Turquoise
International, which specialises in corporate finance for
energy and the environment He ts also a director of
Ellergreen Ltd, Ellergreen Tidal Ltd and Logan Gill Hydro Ltd
Mark Cropper wil! become Chairman following the AGM on
28 July 2010

Executive Directors

Chief Executive

Managing Director, James Cropper Speclality Papers Ltd
Managing Director, The Paper Mill Shop Company Ltd
Alun | Lewis, BSc, MBA - Born 1857

He joined the Group in 1887 from Wiggins Teape Limrted and
the Board in April 1998, becoming Chief Executive in January
2001

Group Finance Director

John M Denman, BSc, FCA - Born 1852 He joined the
Group and the Board in 1995 from Cable & Wireless PLC

He 1s responsible for Finance, Purchasing, Information
Systems and Project Management He is also a trustee of
the James Cropper plc Pension Scheme, Treasurer of the
Confederation of Paper Industnies Limitaed and a former
director of the Paper Federation of Great Britain Limited
Sales and Marketing Director, James Cropper Speciality
Papers Ltd

Nigel A Read, BA - Born 1954 He joined the Group in 1981
from Robert Fletcher & Sons Limited and the Board in 1998
He is also a trustee of the James Cropper plc Pension
Scheme

Operations Director, James Cropper Speciality Papers Ltd
Patrick J Willink, BSc, MBA - Born 1964 - 15 also related to
the founder He joined the Group in 1990 from Aquascutum
Limited and the Board in 1998

Managing Director, Technical Fibre Products Ltd

George T Quayle, BSc, C Chem, MRSC - Born 1953

He joined the Group in 1992 from Whatman PLC and the
Board in 1998

Non-Executive Directors

David R Wilks, LLB (Hons) — Born 1954 He joined the
Board in Apnl 2004 He s a Director of Wilks & Partners,

a management consultancy company he founded in 2001
Prior to this he had extensive manufacturing operations
experience with H J Heinz and United Biscurts and was a
director of ER Consultants

James Sharp, BA —Born 1967 He joined the Board in 2009
He 1s a partner of Sinus Equity LLP, an investment firm which
specialises in the retall and luxury goods sectors, whose
investments include L K Bennett and Jeckerson Previously
he was a Director of J Henry Schroder & Co Limited, the
investment banking arm of Schroders plc

Peter L Herring, BSc (Econ) - Born 1940 He joined the
Board in 1997 and retired from the Board at the AGM held on
29 July 2009

Company Secretary

David R Carey, FCCA - Born 1947

He Jjoined the Group n 1974 as Chief Accountant
He became Company Secretary in 1996

Bankers

Barclays Bank PLC

HSBC Bank PLC

Fortis Bank SA/NV

Independent Auditors

KPMG Audit PLC, Preston

Tax Advisors
PncewaterhouseCoopers LLF, Newcastle upon Tyne
Stockbrokers

Brewin Dolphin Investment Banking
Corporate Lawyers

Dickinson Dees, Newcasile upon Tyne
Registrars

Capita Registrars, Huddersfield
Peansion Advisors

Towers Watson, Manchester

James Cropper plc

Burneside Mills, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 6PZ, England
Telephone 01539 722002

Fax 01539 722001

emaill info@cropper com

website www cropper com

Company Registration No 30226 {Limited by shares)



CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

| am delighted to report that the Group recorded a profit
before tax of £2,416,000 for the year compared to
£858,000 in the previous year. This was after the IAS 19 net
pension charge of £881,000 Pnor to the I1AS 19 net pension
charge the profit was £3,297,000 compared to £1,108,000 1n
2008/09

James Cropper Speciality Papers (“Specialty Papers”)
traded strongly in the financial year continuing the recovery
that began in the second half of the previous financial year
By contrast, as | indicated in my Intenm Statement of 17
November 2009, sales by Technical Fibre Products {“TFP™)
were down considerably on the previous year with the
consequenbal impact on TFP's profitability

Group turnover for the financial year was up 2% to
£76,230,000

Cividends

In view of the Group’s strong performance in the year the
Board has decided to increase the final dividend from 4 0
pence to 5 3 pence per share making a total dvidend for the
full year of 7 5 pence compared to 5 1 pence In 2008/09

James Cropper Speclality Papers {“Speciality Papers”)
Speciality Papers reported an operating profit of £3,437,000
against an operating loss of £310,000 in the previous year

Turnover grew by £3,110,000 to £52,934,000, a 6% increase
Overall volume was up 4%, with UK and export volumes
growing by 2% and 7% respectively The average selhng
price increased by 2%,

The price of pulp has been extremely volatile in the past two
years Following the dramatic falt in the pnce of pulp In
2008/09, Northern Bleached Softwood Kraft (*NBSK™) pulp
opened the 2009/10 financial year at US$580/tonne
However, since then, the price has been on a nsing trend,
driven by supply constraints and continuing demand from
China Supply in the run up to the financial year end was
badly affected by the impact of the Chilean earthquake
Chile’s four pulp mills, which jointly produced 8% of global
pulp supply, have been out of action since this naturat
disaster struck By the end of the full year the price of NBSK
was US$880/tonne, level with its previous peak in mid-2008,
and an incraase of US$300/tonne on the year, up 52%
Further increases took the pnce to US$950 by May 2010
Market forecasters belisve that the price of pulp 1s
approaching a plateau and that the price will start to fall in the
second half of the current year The strengthening of
£Sterling against the US$ during the year dampened the
impact of the increasing pnce of pulp to some extent

Ready supply during the year resulted in relatively berugn
natural gas prices, with the overall cost of consumption in the
year being £2 3 million eompared to £4 3 milhon in the prior
year

Technical Fibre Products (“TFP™}

TFP's operating profit for the year was £1,327,000 compared
to £2,099,000 in 2008/09, with turnover falling overall by 14%
on the previous year to £9,989,000 as a consequence of
recessionary pressures on customers’ inventories and
markets Sales were down in all sectors with the exception of
fire protection which showed strong growth

Sales into the North Amencan market fell by 17% in US$
terms At the average exchange rate for the year, sales to the
North American market represented approximately 52% of
TFP’s turnover in £Sterling terms Sales to “Rest of the
World” were down by 20% n £Sterling terms

James Cropper Converting (“Converting™)

Converting's operating profit was £446,000 compared to
£406,000 in the previous year Turnover increased by 1% to
£11,130,000, with volume down by 8% resulting from
rocessionary pressures Sales into the North American
market remained static in US$ terms and at the average
exchange rate for the year represented approximately 24% of
JCC's turnover in £Sterling terms New sales of high value
added grades contributed to the operating profit

The Paper Mill Shop {(“TPMS")

Turnover was £5,516,000, a decrease of £158,000 on the
previous year, down 3% Three under performing outlets
closed In the latter part of the year reducing the number of
trading outlets to twenty one by the yearend The
consequental fall In turnover was partially offset by internet
sales, which grew considerably during the year The
operating loss Increased by £58,000 to £446,000 over the
year However with only modest investment in capital
expenditure cash out flow was restricted to £35,000 as a
consequance of a fall in working capital of £317,000 and a
depreciation charge of £171,000

Pensions and International Accounting Standard 19
{“IAS 197)

The Group operates two funded pension schemes providing
defined benefits for the magonty of its full hme employees
Dramatic changes in financial markets over the year had a
substantial rmpact on the IAS 19 valuatton at the penod end
Although asset values increased significantly duning the
penod this was not great enough 1o offset the impact of the
fall in bond rates which caused habilites to increase by

36 3% As a consequence of these changes the gross IAS19
defieit increased by £5,104,000 over the year to £14,180,000
The net charge aganst profit in the year was £881,000
compared with £250,000 for the year to 28 March 2009
These results once again demonstrate the volatility
introduced to company results by this accounting standard
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

continued

Cash and borrowings

The combination of improved profit perdfarmance, tght control
over working caprtal and modest capital over the year led to
neghgible net borrowings at the year end At 27 March 2010
gross drawn down loans totalled £5 1 milion, with £5 1
milthion held as cash at bank In addiion the Group had un-
drawn overdraft faciites of £3 4 million, US$1 0 million and
€1 0 million Geaning at the financial year end, after deduction
of the IAS 19 pension deficit, was ril%

People

The Pnde Awards were introduced in 2009 to celebrate the
achievements and service of iIndwvidual employees
Employees were nominated by their colleagues for special
ment under categories that mirror the Group's values with the
winners being selected by a panel comprnsing employees
from across the Group | am delighted to say that this
scheme will continue on an annual basis My thanks and
congratulahons go to the winners and runners-up, their
sponsors and the panel of judges

| would also lhike to thank all our employees for their diligence
and hard work during the past year

James Cropper with Jim Sharp

During the year | was pileased to welcome Jim Sharp to the
Board He s a partner of Sinus Equity LLP, an investment firm
which specialises In the retall and tuxury goods sectors,
whose investments include L K Bennett and Jockerson
Previously he was a Director of J Henry Schroder & Co
Limited, the investment banking arm of Schroders plc Jim
brings considerable financial and management experience
with himn, which | believe wiil be of enormous benefit to the
Group

Outlook

| am contident that our marketing led growth plans will
progress dunng the coming year However the upward
movement in pulp pnces will impact on the profitability of
Speciality Papers in the short term  Price increases are
currently betng agreed with customers afthough there will be
a time lag as regards implementation

The value of TFP's order book has increased significantly
over the level of six months ago indicating that the impact of
the recession on down stream customers Js easing As a
consequence | anticipate that TFP's sales to the aerospace,
defence, security and consumer electrorics sectors will build
strongly in the next 12 months

During the current financial year there will be further closures
of under-performing TPMS outlets At the same time the In-
store offering will also change placing more emphasis on
sales of paper, thus increasing the overall margin at store
level We expect that these two factors, supplemented by
further growth of intarnet sales, will reduce the loss of TPMS
in the coming year

Borrowing will increase from its current low level as a
consequence of increased capital expenditure Investment
will continue to be focused on enhancing our capabiities and
on energy and operating sfficiencies in our manufacturing
subsidianes

| am very encouraged by the way the Group has managed to
weather the vagarnies of the recession Although the outlook
for the global economy remains unclear, | am confident,
given our plans, that my successor as Charman has a strong
foundatton upon which to build

James Cropper
Chairman



FINANCIAL REVIEW

All references to

“Profit and Loss Account” refers to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income
“Balance Shee!" refers to the Statement
of Financial Posiion “"Reserves® refers
to the Statement of Changes in Equily

QOverall performance

* Trading operating profit was
£3,568,000 compared to £1,556,000
in the previous year

* Net trading interest charges for the
year were £271,000 aganst
£448,000 previously

* Trading Profit before tax was
£3,257,000 compared to £1,108,000
In 2009

* The net adverse [AS 19 pension
adjustment was £881,000 compared
to a net adverse adjustment in the
previous year of £250,000

= The Group recorded an overall profit
before tax of £2,416,000 for the year
This compares with £858,000 for the
previous year

* A tax charge of £608,000 arose with
respect to the Trading Profit for the
year, an effective rate of 25%

+ The Profit after tax was therefore
£1,808,000 compared to a Loss after
tax of £87,000 in the previous year

¢ The diluted earnings per share were
21 1 pence for the year compared to
a loss of 1 0 pence In 2009

= Shareholders’ funds at the year-end
were £17,811,000, with net debt of
£31,000, resulting 1n a gearing ratio
of ni%

2010 2009 Change Change
£'000 £'000 £000 %
Trading Profit and Loss Account
Turnover
Technical Fibre Products 9,989 11,648 (1,659) (14)
Speciakty Papers 52,834 49,824 3,188 6
Converting 11,130 10,998 58 1
The Paper Mill Shop 5,516 5,674 (158) {3)
79,569 78,141 1,429 2
Less inter-segmental sales (3,339) (3,338) (2) -
B 76,230 74,803 1,427 2
Expenses
Raw matenals and consumables used (32,338) (33,895) 1,857 {5)
Energy costs (3,111) (5,199} 2,088 (40)
Employee benefit costs * (19,654) (17,735} (1,919 11
Depreciation and amorhsation (3,138) (3,179) 41 {1
Other expenses (14,789)  (13,788) {1,001) 7
Qther income and changes in inventory 368 549 (181) (33)
(72,662) (73,247} 585 (1)
Trading operating profit * 3,568 1,656 2,012 129
(* Before net pension adjustments)
Trading profit before interest 3,568 1,566 2,012
Depreciation 3,138 3,179 (41)
EBITDA (before IAS 19 pension adjustment) 6,706 4,735 1,871
Profit and Loss Summary
Trading actlvities
Technical Fibre Products 1,327 2,099 {772)
Speciality Papers 3,437 (310) 3,747
Converting 446 406 40
The Paper Mill Shop (446) (388) {58)
Other Group expenses (321) {19) (302)
4,443 1,788 2,655
Director and employee bonuses (875) {232) (643)
Trading operating profit 3,568 1,556 2,012
Net interest (271) (448) 177
Trading profit before tax 3,287 1,108 2,189
(After future service pension contnbutions paid)
Net penslon adjustments
Group operating profit (255) (476) 221
Net interest {626) 226 (852}
Net pension adjustment before tax  (B881) {250) (631)
Overall Group after pension adjustments
Profit before interest 3,313 1,080 2,233
Net interest (897) (222) (875}
Profit/{Loss) before tax 2,416 858 1,558
Balance Sheet Summary
Non-penston Assets - excl Cash 43,852 43,753 98
Non-pension Liabilities - exel Borrowings {15,800) (12,582) (3,208}
28,052 31,161 (3.109)
Net pension habilties {10,210) (6,535) (3,675}
17,842 24,626 (6,784}
Net Borrowings {31) (4,452) 4,421
Equity shareholders' funds 17,811 20,174 (2,363}
Gearing % - before IAS 19 deficit 0 17
Gearina % - after IAS 19 deficit 0 22
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Trading Profit and Loss Account

Group turnover was £76,230,000 compared to
£74,803,000 last year, up 2% Overall Group raw
matenal and consumable costs, excluding energy,
were £32,338,000 down 5% on last year The cost of
energy consumption decreased over the previous
year by £2,088,000 to £3,111,000, down 40%

TFP's tumover fell cverall by 14% on the previous
year to £9,989,000 as a consequence of
recessionary pressures on customers’ inventories
and markets Sales were down in all sectors with the
exception of fire protecticn which showed strong
growth Sales into the North Amencan market fell by
17% 1n US$ terms At the average exchange rate for
the year, sales to the North American market
represented approximately 52% of TFP's turnover in
£Sterling terms  Sales to “Rest of the World” were
down by 20% in £3terling terms

Speciality Papers' turnover grew by £3,110,000 to
£62,934,000, a 8% Increase Overall volume was up
4%, with UK and export volumes growing by 2% and
7% respectively The average selling price increased
by 2% The price of Northern Bleached Softwood
Kraft (“NBSK™) pulp opened the financial year at
US$580/tonne and has been on a nsing trend since
then By the end of the year the price of NBSK was
US$880/tonne, its previous peak in mid-2008, an
increase of US$300/tonne on the year, up 52%

Converting's turnover increased by 1% to
£11,130,000, with volume down by 8% resufting
from recessionary pressures Sales into the North
Amencan markst remained static in US$ terms and
at the average exchange rate for the year
represented approximately 24% of Converting's
turnover in £5terling terms

Turnover at The Paper Mill Shop was £5,516,000, a
decrease of £158,000 on the previous year, down
3% Three under performing outlets closed in the
latter part of the year reducing the number of trading
outlets to twenty one by the year end With only
modest investment in capital expenditure cash out
flow was resincted 1o £35,000 as a consequence of
a fall in working capital of £317,000 and a
depreciation charge of £171,000 Given the losses
incurred by The Paper Mill Shop Limited an
impairment review was conducted The review
concluded that there was no requirement for an
impairment provision

Pror to the net tAS 19 pension adjustment
employment costs were £19,654,000 compared to
£17,735,000 n the previous year, an increase of
£1,919,000 This included the cost of internal labour
associated with projects totalling £385,000 The
average number of people employed decreased
from 629 to 625 over the year For greater analysis of
employment costs see Table G

Other external charges increased from £13,788,000
to £14,789,000 up £1,001,000 This included the
cost of matenals incorporated in projects, £202,000,
foreign exchange losses, £365,000 and increased
selling and marketing spend, £333,000

Taxatlon

Table A Prior Current Total
years yoar charge

£000 £000 £000

Corporation Tax (42) 1069 1,027
Deferred Tax (13) (406) (419)
(55) 663 608

Effective tax rate relating to "on-going® profits - % 25%

Currency Index

Pulp Index in Denominated Currencies

Gas Cost (pence per therm)




Balance Sheet

Shareholders’ Funds decreased by £2,363,000 from
£20,174,000 at the previous year-end to £17,811,000
as at 27 March 2010 Net borrowings decreased by
£4,421,000, whilst other habilities excluding
pensions increased by £3,019,000 The IAS 19
pension deficit net of Deferred Tax increased by
£3,675,000

The overall IAS 18 pension defictt increased by
£5,104,000 to £14,180,000 This was off-set by a
£1,429,000 incraase n the Deferred Tax Asset to
£3,970,000 For greater analysis of IAS 19 see
Table F

Capital expenditure was £1,228,000,

Net current assets decreased by £568,000 over the
year from £15,297,000 to £14,729,000, with working
capital {stocks, debtors, net of creditors) decreasing
by £1,921,000 and net cash increasing by
£1,353,000 Working capital movements included a
£227,000 decrease in stocks and a £3,419,000
increase in trade and other creditors offset by a
£1,673,000 increase in trade and other debtors and
a £52,000 decrease in current tax habiies

Over the year bank loans falling due after more than
a year fell by £3,068,000 from £4,954,000 10
£1,886,000

Cash Flow
Summansed cash flow 1s shown in Table B

Net cash inflow from operating activities in the year
was after deducting past service pension deficit
payments of £626,000

Net cash outflow from investing actvities in the year
includes capital expendtture totaling £1,228,000

Total cash and berrowing changes over the year and
facilites avallable are shown in Table C

At 27 March 2010 the Group had un-drawn overdraft
faciies of £3 5 million, US$1 0 million and €1 ¢
milion At this date these facilities, which are
renewable annually, were valued in total at
£5,087,000

Funds and Capital Expenditure

Gearing
Table B 2010 2009 Change
Cash Flow £'000 £000 £'000
Net cash inflow from operating acoiviies 6,288 3,578 2,710
Net cash outflow from investing activities  (1,226)  {1,328) 102
5,062 2,250 2812
Net cash flow from financing activities (2,6848) (1,531) (1,117}
Nst increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,414 719 1,695
Opening cash and cash equivalents 2,636 1,817 719
Closing cash and cash equivalents 5,050 2,636 2414
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Forelgn Currency

The majority of exports into continental Europe
are invoiced in €s €s are used to purchase €
priced pulp and other raw maternials sourced from
Europe in €5 Similarly, export sales outside
Europe are invoiced in US$ and the receipts fund
the purchase of US$ priced pulp These steps
reduce exposure to foreign currency rate
fiuctuations The situation 1s monitored to ensure
that whenever possible currency receipts and
payments are matched Table D compares the
opening and closing exchange rates for the
financtal year

Overall the Group generated surplus US$s
during the year, which, as a consequence of the
strengthened value of the £ against the US$ had
an adverse impact on profitability Potential
toreigh currency surpluses or deficits are dealt
with by a combination of foreign currency
forward selling and forward purchasing
contracts

Penslons

The Group operates two funded pension
schemes prowviding defined banefits for the
majonty of its full time employeas including
Executive Dwrectors Membership of the Schemes
has been closed to new members for a number
of years in order to contain the Group's exposure
te nsing pension costs Since 2001 all new
employess have baen able to join a defined
contribution Group Personal Pension Plan The
Group exposure to employee’s GPP plans 1s
Iimited to a fixed percentage of contractual pay
The tatest actuanal “on-going” valuations of the
James Cropper plc Pension Scheme (the “Staff
Scheme”) and the James Cropper plc Works
Pension Plan (the “Works Scheme”) were
conducted as at Apni 2008 The results of the
valuations are shown in Table E {The next “on-
going” valuation will be conducted as at April
2010)

Table C 2010 2009 Change
Net debt £'000 £000 £'000
Cash and cash equivalents 5,050 2,636 2,414
Borrowings repayable within one year (3,195} (2,134}  (1,061)
Net cash 1,855 502 1,353
Borrowings non-current (1,886) (4,954) 3,068
Net debt (31) (4,952) 4421
Facilitles
Borrowings repayable within one year 3,195 2,134 1,061
Barrowings non-current 1,886 4,954 {3.068)
Facilities drawn down 5,081 7,088 {(2,007)
Undrawn facilities 5,087 5,172 (85)
Facillties 10,168 12,260 (2,092)
Funds avallable
Cash and cash equivalents 5,050 2,636 2414
Undrawn facilibies 5,087 5172 (85)
Funds avallable at year end 10,137 7.808 2,329
Borrowings repayable within one year (3,195} (2,134  (1,081)
Funds avallable In excess of one year 6,942 5,674 1,268
Table D
Currency uss €
Opening rate Aprd 2008 v £ 142 107
Closing rate March 2010v £ 150 11
Exchange rate movement % 57 {35)
Strengthen/(weaken) v £
Currency transactions in year
Sales recaipts ‘000 17,294 18,835
Purchase payments ‘000 (16,129) (16,614)
Surplus/(deficit)y  '000 1,165 221
£ @ Opening rate £'000 823 206
£ @ Closing rate £'000 778 199
Gain/(loss} £'000 (45) 3]




The dual discount rate approach effectively “books
upfront” the higher expected equity returns by
reducing the habiities and showing a smaller deficit
than the corporate/government bond approach,
which assumed that the Schemes’ combined
Investment portfolio consists of 50% corporate
bonds and 50% government bonds The dual
discount rate approach may be considered
inappropriate, as the higher return may not
ultimately be realised and it could be taken to imply
that the accrued habilihes are changing, when
actually it 1 only the split between the investment
returns and contributions used to fund them that is
changing The difference between the two “on-
gong” deficts of €12 mithon (1 e £14 9 milhon minus
£2 g million}) 1s essentially, the extra return of £12
million expected to be covered by higher investment
returns relating to higher nsk equity weighted assets
compared with corporate and government bonds
Thus i the trustees of the two schemes waere {0
transfer the existing Schemes’ assets compnsing
hmgher nisk investments into holdings of 50%
corporate bonds and 50% government bonds a
combined deficit of £14 9 milhlon would matenalise

Prior to 2008/09 the Group had been paying deficit
contributions on a equal monthly basis, totaling
£876,000 p a , with the aim of removing the
combined deficit in accordance with the Schemes'
agreed Schedules of Contributions With the
agreement of the Schemes' trustees these monthly
payments were suspended in December 2008 Total
deficit contnbutions 1n 2008/09 were £712,000
These monthly payments were resumed in
September 2009 and totalled £626,000 in 2009/10
It 15 the intention of the Board to eliminate the
deficits within a perniod of ten years

To reduce the nsk to the Group and the Schemes
the rules of the Staff and Works Schemes have been
amended such that annual pension increases be
Iimited to the Retail Prices Index (‘RPI" up to a
maximum of 2 5% for service accrued after 1 Apr
2009 In addiion there will be no guaranteed
mmimum Increase for service accrued as from that
date Following this change the future service
contributions payable by the Group to the Staff and
Works Schemes are 12 7% and 8§ 9% of contractual
pay respectivety.

1AS 19

IAS 19 requires that actuanes calculate the assets
and habilities of companies’ pension schemes
based on values and interest rates at their annual
batance shest date Under IAS 19 penslon scheme
labihties are measured on an actuanal basis using
the projected unit method Pension habilities are
discounted at the current rate of returm on an AA
rated quality corporate band of equivalent currency
and tarm The pension scheme assets are
measurad at far value at the Balance Sheet date

Table E Basis Basis
“On-golng” actuarial valuations On-going On-golng
Dualk-Discount 50 50 Corp/
Equity/Bonds Govern.Bonds
Discount rate pre-retirement 7 65% 570%
Discount rate post-retirament 5 70% 570%
£000s £000s
Statf Scheme as at 1 Apnl 2008
Assets 26,873 26,873
Liabilihes (29,443) (34,630)
Deficrt (2,570} (7.757)
Funding level - % H 78
Works Scheme as at 5 April 2008
Assots 30,141 30,141
Liabities {30,401} (37,236)
Deficit {260} (7,095)
Funding level - % a9 81
Combined Deficit {2,830) (14,852)

The net of these two figures gives the scheme surplus or deficit As market
values of the scheme assets and the discount factors applied to the
scheme labiities will fluctuate, this method of valuation will often lead to
large vanations in the “pension balance™ year on year An “on-going”
valuation takes account of the projected growth in the pension schemes’
assets by asset type over the projectad Iife of the scheme

The assumptions used by the actuanes for their IAS 19 valuations are
Iikely to be very different from those that they used with regard to their “on-
going® valuations

IAS 189 regards a sponsoring company and Its pension schemes as a
single accounting entity rather than two or more separate legal entties
The actuanal valuation is the starting point for the creation of the 1AS 19
accounting entity The valuation deterrmines the net position of a pension
scheme, | @ the difference between its assets and habilities
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Table F Staff Works Total Total Change Change
2010 2010 2010 2009
IAS19 DEFICIT £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000 %
Current Service Charge (218) {608) {826) {1,300) 474
Future serice contributions paid 288 283 571 824 {253)
Net impact on Operating Profit 70 (325) (255) {476) 221
Finance ¢osts (229) 397 (626) 226 (852)
Net impact on Profit and Loss Account (158} (722) (881) {250) {631)
Past service deficit contnbutions paid 252 374 626 712 (86)
Actuanal (losses)/gains (2,023) (2,828) (4,849} (7,734) 2,885
Opening deficit (3,371) (5,705) (9,076) (1,804) (7,272)
Closing deficit {5,301) (8,878} (14,180) (9,076) (5,104}
Deferred Taxation 1,484 2,486 3,970 2,541 1,428
Net deficit (3,817) {6,393) (10,210) (6,535) (3,675)
Assets 30,778 33,172 63,950 48,257 15,693 325%
Liabilities (36,079) (42,051 (78,130} (57,333} (20,797 363%
Closing defich (5,301) (8,879) (14,180) (9,076) (5,104} 562%
Assets
Equities 16,241 19,035 35,276 24,377 10,899
Gits and Corporate Bonds 12,382 12811 25273 19,792 5,481
Property - 76 76 147 {71)
Annuities 1,901 - 1,901 2,005 {104}
Cash 274 1,150 1,424 1,936 (512)
30,778 33,172 63,950 48,257 15,693
Assel - %
Equities 528 57 4 552 505
Gilts and Corporate Bonds 401 389 395 M0
Property - 02 01 03
Annuities 62 - 30 42
Cash 09 35 22 40

1000 1000 1000 1000

On the introduction of IAS 19 the net position, surplus or deficit, 1s brought onto the sponsoning company's Balance Shest
such that Reserves are immediately adusted by the net position reduced by deterred tax. This obviously results in ether an
increase or decrease in the net asset value of the sponsoring company Upon valuation at subsequent year-ends the
movement in value from the previous valuation 1s expressed in the following compaonent parts

Those which affect profit
Operating costs

= Current service charge, being the cost of bensefits earned in the current penod shown net of employees’ contributions
= Past service costs, being the costs of benefit improvements

» Curtailment and settlement costs

Finance costs, being the net of

« Expected return on pension scheme assets

» Interest cost on the accrued pension scheme habilibes

Those that do not affect profit

* Actuanial gamns and losses ansing from vanances agamst previous actuanal assumptions

The above items are offset in the year-to-year mavement by actual contributions pard by the employer n the penod




Table F shows the results of the IAS 19
valuations

Substantial changes in financial markets over the
year had a considerable impact on the 1AS 19
valuation at the period end Although asset
values increased significantly dunng the period,
up 32 5%, this was not great anough to offset the
impact of the fall in bond rates from 6 7% to

5 6%, which caused liabilities to increase by

36 3% As a consequence of these changes the
gross IAS 19 deficit Increased by £5,104,000, up
56 2% over the year to £14,180,000 The net
charge against profit in the year was £881,000
compared with £250,000 for the year to 28th
March 2009

Actual future service pension contributions paid
in the peried by the Group to its two final salary
schemes In accordance with the actuarnes’
recommendations, resulting from their latest “on-
going” valuations, were £571,000 Under IAS 19
the charge against profit in the year was
£826,000 This sum represents an excess charge
required by IAS 19 over and above the future
service contnbutions that were actually required
by the “on-going” valuations, plus the PPF Levy
charge and other expenses relating to the Works
Scheme

Table G analyses employment costs charged
against Operating Profit

Table G
Total adjusted empioyment costs 2010 2009 Change
£000 £’000 £'000
Wages and salanes 16,243 15,357 886
Director and employee bonuses 875 232 643
Social secunty costs 1,416 1,361 55
Future service pension contnbutions paid 571 B24 {253)
Other pension costs 549 329 220
Total employment costs 19,654 18,103 1,551
Own labour capitalised - {368) 368
Chargeable agalnst
Trading Operating Profit 19,654 17,735 1,919
Wages and salanes 16,243 15,357 8as
Director and employee bonuses 875 232 643
Social securnity costs 1,416 1,361 55
Current service pension charge {IAS 19) 826 1,300 {474)
Cther pension costs 549 329 220
Total employment costs 19,909 18,579 1,330
Own labour capitalised - {368) 368
Chargeable against
Group Operating Profit 19,909 18,211 1,698
Drfference being
Net IAS 19 pension adjustment aganst
operating profit 255 476 {221)
Average monthly number of employees 625 629 (4)




Annual Report and Accounts 2010

BUSINESS REVIEW

Technical Fibre Products

Market Diversity
Diversity of markets, applications and
products helped shelter our trading position
from the dramatic negative impact of global
economic turmoil experlenced by the
majority of industrial markets. On the one
hand we saw annualised sales to consumer
GB electronics applications fall rapidly by more
usA Con strE::t:g:;\ ::;’9? than 60%, yet we enjoyed robust growth of
Aerospace Cryogenics Construction Korea over 30% 1n fire protection products qualffied
Efectronics Industrial Industrial Energy for USA construction and Federal Homeland
Energy Land Land Secunty projects Agamnst the strong
Construction transport transport comparative of the previous year, the net effect
Industrial Medical of the turmail was to reduce annual revenues
'-*’“:n:“::""" Other by 14% On a like for like basis, sales to the
Med"neal USA in $US declined by 17% (8% 1n £Sterling
Other Australia terms) Afthough the USA market dropped the
00:::::1:"00 fastest and was later in recovery than the rest

arine

of the world, it stll accounted for the largest
proportion of £Sterling revenues at 52% Sales
to “Rest of the World” were down by 20% in
£8Sterling terms

As a consequence of the slow-down the decision was taken to moth-ball Metal Coated Fiber Inc 's (“MCF"} facility This action
and others taken to reduce costs, combined with a favourable product mix, prevented erosion of gross margin and enabled
delivery of a respectable operating margin of 14% in a very challenging business environment MCF's facility, which produces
components for matenals sold into consumer electrorics applications, will be re-activated as momentum returns

Duning the last few months of the financial year customer confidence has grown, particularly in the aerospace, green energy, land
transportation, construction and industrial markets Several large accounts in these sectors have started to addrass backlogs
and rebuild mventones, resuthing in them placing firm forward commitments with TFP In addition new product development
programmes that were put on hold earlier in the year have been rejuvenated

As we move into the new financial year, with order bocks strengthening and a robust pipeline of customer sponsored new
product developments moving into commercialisation, we expect to get back on track 1o detiver very atiractive earmings growth

2010 2009 Change Change
£'000 £'000 £'000 %
Turnover 9,989 11,648 (1,659) {14)

Operating profit 1,327 2,099 (772)




BUSINESS REVIEW

Speciality Papers

In the Annual Report last year we spoke of 2008/9 as one of the
most extraordinary years In our recent history. The following 12
months have possibly been even more dramatic. The first part of
the year saw a continuation of recessionary conditions and reduced
demand from traditional customers but we were quickly able to
compensate for that by winning significant new business
particularly In overseas markets. As economic conditions improved
through the summer and into the autumn, demand for paper generally
increased, the result was that demand for pulp also grew sharply
tnggering steep mcreases in fibre pnces which rose every month from
June onwards The tragic earthquake in Chile instantly removed 8% of
global pulp production from the market and this, together with a number
of stnkes in Finland and $weden and fibre supply problems in Russia
and the USA, ansured that these pulp price increases were sustanad.
In response to the unprecedented scale of this cost Increase, Speciality
Papers endeavoured to recover margin as quickly as possible However
we have had to be mindful of the interests of our customers whose long-
term wiability could have been damaged by over-aggresswe prce
Increases

Against this turbulent background Speciality Papers made good
progress in further penetrating the key market sectors identified in last
year's strategic review and this helped to drive increases of 4% in sales
volume and 6% in sales value in the year as a whole Customers have
bescome more demanding in wanting shorer lead tmes and our
Operations departments have generally coped well with the
combination of increased votume, more complex products and quicker
delivenes

The new financial year opsned with further price increase negotiations with our custorners and with quits a full order book Plans
are in place to increase sales and marketing resource in key areas of our business and also to mprove planning and production
efficiencies so that we can better serve our chosen markets Much thought 1s also being applied into how we can better exploit
the 'James Cropper’ brand, it 1s clear that the business phifosophies and traditons of the Cormpany are greatty vatued by many
of our stakeholders and by customers in many of our markets and we should promote and emphasise these wherever possible
Our business continues to bhe challenging but also to offer exciting opportunties as we posihon ourselves into more valuable and

sustainable markets

2010 2009 Change Change

£'000 £'000 £'000 %
Tumover 52,934 49,824 3,110 6
Operating profit/(loss) 3,437 310) 3,747
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Converting

Continued healthy growth In sales of digital printing media
underiined the increasing importance ot this product line.
Mountboard sales grew n a challenging market but sales of display
boards were Impacted by a further reduction in advertising
expenditure.

Sales of mountboard are closely related to general actvity in the
housing market, as people tend to acquire pictures when they move
into a new home UK residential property sales did not recover in 2009
and the US market was similarly affected However, Converting remains
the world’s only picture mountboard producer vertically integrated with
a paper mill capable of supplying all the elements of the product. This
competitive advantage was leveraged to grow sales of archival
boxboard products as well as our traditional conservation mountboard
ranges, resulting 1n increased sales volumes overall despite the difficult
trading environment.

At the start of the financial year, our growing internet business,
www papermilldirect com, was transferred to The Paper Mill Shop to
allow both Group e-commerce sites to be combined into one, leading
to increased focus on this business Converting continued to grow sales
of our digital products to major OEMs, which have becoms a useful
addition to our tradrhional advertising and picture framing markets

Overall spending on advertising influences sales of display board

According to the World Advertising Research Center, total spending on
advertising in the UK in 2009 was down 12 7% on 2008 Converting has
a large market share of the UK display board market and this reduction
in activity impacted directly on sales of these products

Sales volumes of film laminated grades more than doubled relative to the pnor year as we developed an innovative product that

replaced a traditional PVC product line in what was a new market for us

We continue to invest in both plant and employees and during the year we implemented a 5S workplace organisation programme
This programme has had a positive impact on sfficiencies as well as the appearance of the factory, which has improved
substanually Implementation of a new computer system reduced our reliance on legacy systems and resulted in shop floor data

collection being introduced at all production machines

2010 2009 Change Change

£'000 £'000 £'000 %
Turnover 11,130 10,995 135 1
Operating profit 446 406 40




BUSINESS REVIEW

The Paper Mill Shop

Retall trading conditions remain
aextromely challenging with the
economic downturm making life difficult
for many retailers TPMS has
experienced another tough year with
turnover down 5% and the operating
loss worse than the previous year

Three under performing stores were
closed during the period and there i1s an
ongoing review process of the numbers
and locations of stores to dentfy
opportunites to close further under
performing stores  With the co-operation
of landlords new short term leases have
been agreed for a number of the stores
The strategic aim is to have a core number
of profitable stores and a successful
e-commerce site

Athorough review of costs in the business

has been carried out and we expect to generate further operational efficiencies and cost savings in all areas of the business

Despite the very tough general econormic conditions, our intarnet business continues to deliver double digit Iike for ke sales
improvement year on year A marketing plan has been developed aimed at increasing footfall and improving the average order

value

In the craft market we are experiencing intense compstition from the large multiple retalers and have taken the decision to
reposition the business in order to focus on our core strength which 1s the unbeatable value of the paper and card  During the
year sales of craft accessones declined but paper and card performed strongly when compared to the previous year

We have undertaken a tnal in a selected number of stores where the product mix has been changed tn order to dnve a highser
percentage of sales from paper and card and our own labelled products  Early indications are that this initiative I1s proving to be
successtul and 1t is planned to roll out the new merchandising plan across all stores during the coming year

2010 2009 Change Change
£'000 £'000 £'000 %
Turnover 5,516 5,674 {158) (3}

Operating loss {446) (388) (58)
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HEALTH & SAFETY

The Group’s Safety Strategy embraces the need to create
well-developed safety management processes and a sound
safety culture The aim of the Strategy 1s to achieve zero Lost
Time Accidents (“LTAs") By adopting the principle that all
LTAs are preventable, management are accepting that it 1s
their responsibility to achieve this aim

Accidents

There were 10 LTAs in the past financial year compared to 15
in the previous year The following chart highlights the
number of days lost to injuries

Days lost due to injurles

Policy
Duning the course of the year the Group’s Health & Safety
Policy was revised and is reproduced below

HEALTH & SAFETY POLICY STATEMENT
James Cropper plc has an absolute commitment to safety
This 15 a fundamental and endunng value of the business

1 We believe that all our activities can be carmed out safely
and will conduct our business in a way that will prevent
imury and |l health to our employess, contractors and
anyone else affected by our actvities

2 We will ensure that we carry out our duties as set out in
legislabon and strive to attain best practice to achieve safe
working

3 Although overall accountability rests with managament
everyone at James Cropper ple has responsibility for their
own safety and for the safety of others

4 Management will demonstrate committed and enthusiastic
leadership in promoting and encouraging a positive health
and safety culture

5§ We shall seek to engage and involve all employees in
maintaining a safe working environment

6 We also beheve that it 1s essental for a successful
company to strive for continual improvement in health and
safety performance, which will be achieved by setting
health and safety objectives and tracking our performance
against them through auditing and monitoring behaviours

7 We will identrfy the hazards and rnisks of our activities and
put control measures in place to prevent them These will
be reviewed In the hght of any changes

8 We will train our employees so that they are skilled and
qualified to carry out their jobs and select contractors who
can demonstrate therr competence and ability to work
safely

9 We will inveshgate all work related incidents and near
misses, focussing on root causes Lessons leamed from
these will be shared across the Company and will be used
to prevent recurrence

Say NO, Say YES

James Cropper plc and our trade union representatives fully
support the “Say NO, Say YES” campaign |ointly launched
by the Confederation of Paper Industnes and Unite, the
Union The campaign emphasises that in order to bring
about improvements i health and safety performance
everyons employed in our industry must work together
towards a set of common goals The need s to develop a
partnership based upon mutual trust, respect, co-operation
and joint problem sohing

SAY NO to

b 4 Taking rnisks

X Dangerous work

X Cuting corners

X Production before health and safety

SAY YES to-

v Acting on health and safsty complaints and quernes
v/ Working together on nsk assessments and SSoW
v/ Reporting near misses

v/ Joint acoident and incident mvestigahons

v/ Combined traiming of managers, supervisors and safety
representatives

v Health and safety - it's good for business

Involvement in health and safety 1s simply a two-way process
where employers and employees

¢ Talk to one another

¢ Listen to one another's concerns

¢/ Raise concems and solve problems togsther
v/ Discuss issues In good time

v/ Consider what everyone has to say

v/ Make decisions together



ENVIRONMENT

The aims of the Group’s Environment Strategy are primarily to

* [dentfy and deal with those environmental 1ssues that are business
cntical so that they do not become a constraint on the business

» Establish early and continuing compliance with emerging environmental
legislation

* Maintain 18014001 certification

¢ Ensure that the approach to comphance and improvements delivers
cost saving and sfficiency gains

* |mprove environmental performance by ensuring accountability for
environmental matters are an integral part of the day-to-day
management of operational activities

* Devise meaningful measures and targets against which to monitor
performance

Over the nexd few years it 1s anticipated that there will be a significant
increase (in output from our manufactuning facility in Burneside As a
consequence there will be a corresponding Increase in energy
consumption, water abstraction and waste generation This expansion will
take place aganst the background of increasingly tighter regulatory
control by Government agencies, most notably through the terms and
conditions of the Group's IPPC Permit to Operate, Climate Change
Agreement and the European Union Emission Trading Scheme
("EUETS") The Group’s location on the edge of the Lake District National
Park and on the River Kent, a Site of Special Scientific Interest and a
Eurcpean Site, Special Area of Conservation, will ensure that its activibies
will come under close scrutiny In addiion the rapid increase in energy
costs in recent years bnngs consumption and conservation of energy into
sharp business focus particularly when weighed against the background
of increasing manufacturing output Unless managed effectively, a
number of energy and environmental 1ssues could constrain the Group
from meeting its strategic objectives

Climate Change Regulations

EUETS, a mandatory scheme for greenhouse gas ermission allowance
trading within the EU, was introduced in phases from 2005 Itis one of the
policies being introduced by the EU to tackle emissions of carbon dioxide
and other greenhouse gases from a number of specific mdustnal
activiies The Group's power generation facilities became subject to this
scheme as from 1 January 2008 Under the Scheme the Group i1s granted
an allowance to emit 41,000 tonnes per annum The chart displays the
Group's actual performance.

EUETS Performance (‘000 tonnes of CO,)

The Group 15 a signatory to the paper sector
Chmate Change Agreement (“CCA”) negotiated
with HM Government by the Confederation of
Paper Industries, the industry's trade associahon
Under the Agreement the Group receives partial
exemptien from the Climate Change Levy on its
natural gas consumption, an 80% discount
against the Lavy attributable to imported electrcity
and exemption from Business Rates otherwise
chargeable on our CHP plant In return, the
Group 1s committed to a senes of increasingly
stringent energy use targets that take sffect over
milestone target periods, every other year, for the
10-year term of the Agreement To date the Group
has now exceeded all three of its CCA milestones
targets for specific energy use per tonne of
saleabls product

The Group, along with other UK paper companies
receves considerable assistance and support
from the Confederation of Paper Industries in
dealing with the myriad of 1ssues that anse in
collating and venfying the complex energy and
carbon emtssion data required by HM
Government

“Biomass” project

The proposal to build a "biomass” plant was
granted planning permission by Cumbna Country
Council in 2009 However the feasibiirty study has
had to be extended on techmical grounds and itis
unlkely that a decision to proceed with the project
will be taken dunng the course of the current
financial year The project 1s only financially viable
it the principal fuel used is solid recovered fuel
(“SRF™) denved from processed household waste

Forestry

James Cropper plc contnues its policy of
purchasing only from those supphers who
demonstrate practical application of sound
environmeéntal management Annually James
Cropper Specialty Papers purchases some
40,000 tonnes of virgin wood pulp of the highest
environmental pedigree All of its suppliers are
committed to sustainable forest management and
comply fully with their local national standards
and legislation They have also attained the
International Standards 1SO 9000 and 1SO 14001
relating to quality and environmental management
procedures respectively In addition to the
Group’s 1SO 14001 accreditation, James Cropper
Speciality Papers also holds dual accreditation to
FSC {Forest Stewardship Council) and PEFC
(Programme for the Endorsement of Forest
Certification) standards Certification imposes
stnct controls, iIncluding an auditable chain of
custody for pulp sourced by the mill This enables
the subsichary to satsfy the increasing demand
from major customers and end consumers for
creditable certification of the source of fibre used
in the products they purchase Our pulp comes
substantially from Sweden and Finland from long
established suppliers
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The management of nisk 1s fundamental to sound business
management and underlying profit performance Risk
management transcends every aspect of the organisation
and its activities, affecting policies, employees, assets,
customers, suppliers and the wider community The Group
manages fisk by a combination of insurance and self-
insurance Selfunsurance refers to actions taken internaily
or in conjunction with other third parties In broad terms,
hugh risks in financial and operational areas are more
dependent on insurance than nsks in commercial and
personnsl areas, which because of their nature are more
Iikely to be managed by self-insurance In addition to the
Audit Committee, which 15 a mandatory requirement under
the Combined Cods, the Beard has for some time
ostabhshed other Steening Groups with nsk management
briefs These include
* Health & Safety
¢ Environment
* Insurance
* Human Rescurces
* Foreign Currency
* Purchasing
* Pensions
¢ Information Systemns
* Energy
The Board sets appropriate policies on internal control It
seeks regular assurance that processes are functioning
effectively In determining its policies with regard to internal
control the Board's consideration includes the following
factors
* The extent and categories of nsk which it regards as

accepiable for the Group to bear,
* The likelthood of the nsks concerned matenialising,

= The nature and extent of the nsks facing the Group,

* The Group's ability to reduce the incidence and impact

on the business of nsks that do matenalise, and
» The costs of operating particular contrals relatwe to the

benefit thereby obtained in managing the related nisks
All smployees have some responsibility for internal control
as part of their accountability for achieving objectives
They, collectively, have the necessary knowladge, skills,
information and authority to establish, operate and monitor
the systems of internal control  This requires an
understanding of the Group, its objectives, the industrnes
and markets in which it operates, and the nsks i faces
The Group does hot have an intemal audit department

However cross-functional teams regularly carry out Health
& Safety and Environmental audits ‘We work with our
external auditors and other specialist consultants to 1dentify
nsks and weaknesses (n internal controls

The Group's operational quality processes and
envircnmental and safety management systems are
accredited with 1ISO 9001, ISC 14001 and OHSAS 18001
respectively Not only does compliance with these
standards form the basis of sound internal control but also
they are mcreasingly important n satisfying customers’
aspirations with regard to the management of therr supply
chains BSI audits our processes for continuing compliance
every six months TFP 1s accredited with the Investor in
People Award

Sound internal control is pnmarily dependent on people
understanding the key 1ssues that relate to their area of
actoaty and what they are expected to do 1n certain
crcumstances This understanding stems from the Group's
Goal and its Values The Goal set the direction Our Values
influence our behaviours Sound behaviours are critical to
the development of successful relationships between
people The Group’s strategic aims are encompassed in a
comprehensive financial planning and budgeting process
with performance monrtored on monthly basis Through our
performance management process the Group's strategic
ams, plans and budgsts are translated into objectives at all
levels of the organisation The performance management
process 1s seen as a kay vehucle through which indindual
employee’s performance can be enhanced and developed
for the mutual benefit of the individual and organisation as
a whole Training and development increases employees’
competencies and therefore enables them to deal with risks
more effectively Clearly defined policies, processes and
procedures (P, P & Ps) prowide employees with guidance
There has been considerable effort in recent years to
document and revise our P P & Ps across all areas of
activity These allow employees to understand the relevant
practces to be deployed Qur information systems are
being extensively modernised to provide faster
communications and greater accuracy that will enable the
organisation to become more efficient and effective
Throughout our organisation we are working strenuously to
ehimnate waste All these imhatives will allow us to become
more responsive to the needs of our customers and
manage our risk exposure more effectively



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have pleasure in submitting to the members
their Annual Report and the audited accounts of the
Group for the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2010.

The Annual General Meeting of the Group will be held at the
Bryce Inshtute, Burneside on Wednesday, 28 July 2010 at
11 0Cam

Review of the Business
The Group’s pnncipal activities compnse the manufacture and
retail of paper and paper related products

The Charrman's Review includes a roview of business
activiies during the ysar and comments on future
developments and prospects Details of the Group's actvities
are included in the Divisional Reviews

Results

The profit attnbutable to equity holders of the Company for
the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2010 is set out In the Income
Statement The dmvdends paid dunng the year, and the
proposed final dvidend, are set out in the Notes to the
financial statements.

Research and Development

The Group continues to invest in research and development
to ensure that the range and quality of products are
continually updated

Statement of directors’ responsibilities In respect of the
annual rapart and the financial statements

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regutations

Company law requires the directors to prepars group and
parent company financial statements for each financial year
Under that law they have elected to prepare both the group
and the parent company financial statements in accordancs
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law As
required by the AIM Rules of the London Stock Exchange
they are required to prepare the group financial statements in
accordance with [FRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable
law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial
statements on the same basis

Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and
parent company and of their profit or loss for that penod In
prepanng each of the group and parent company financiat
statements, the directors are required to

* select surtable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

* make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent,

« state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and

* prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it 1s nappropnate to presume that the group and the
parent company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent company's transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any tme the financial posttion of the parent

company and enable them to ensure that s financial
statements comply with the Comparies Act 2006 They have
general responsibiity for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integnty of the corporate and financial information included
on the company's wehsite Legislation in the UK governing
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legistation in other junsdictions

Corporate Governance

(i) Directors’ Responsibilities

The Board 1s accountable to the Group's shareholders for
corporate governance Whilst there ts no requirement to
comply with the Combined Code, the Group 1s committed to
a high standard of corporate governance and this section
descnbes how the relevant pnnciples of governance are
appled to the Group

(i) The Board

The Group Board considers that it 1s well balanced and
operates in an effective manner and 1s collectively responsible
for the success of the Company It compnses five Exscutive
Directors and four Non-Executive Directors

Despite two directors not being independent under the
Combined Code, the Board deems all the Non-Executve
Directors to be independent even though James Cropper and
Mark Cropper have close family tes They display
independence of character and judgment and provide
unequivocal counsel and advice to the Board

James Cropper, who has been the Chairman of the Company
for forty years, hands over at the AGM to Mark Cropper who is
currently the Deputy Charman The Chairman 1s responsible
for the running of the Board James Cropper will continue to
serve as a Non-Executive Director of the Company

Alun Lewis 1s the Chief Executive and 1s responsible for the
running of the Company's business

Dawvid Wilks 1s the senior independent Non-Executive Director
Jm Sharp was appointed a Non-Executive Orector on

1 September 2009 and replaces Peter Hermng who retired at
last year's AGM

The Group Board met eight times during the year, with
prepared agendas for discussion and formal schedules of
items to be approved covering structure and strategy,
management, financial reporing and controls, board
membership and committees, and corporate governance
There 1s a schedule of matters reserved for the Board's
decision

The Executive Committee, under the charrmanship of Alun
Lewis, met twelve times dunng the year with prepared
agendas for discussion

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary The Board has also established a formal
procedure whereby Diractors, wishing to do so in the
furtherance of their duties, may take independent prefessional
adwice, If necessary, at the Company's expense All Directors
are aware of their responsibitty to regularly update therr skills
and knowledge
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Corporate Governance continued
(i) Board Committees

There are four sub-committees reporting to
the Group Board

« Executive Committae

* Remuneration & Management
Davelopment Committes

+ Audit Committes
= Nomination Comrmuttee

The Executive Committes compnses the
exscutive directors and one senior
executive The Committee’s terms of
reference include the development and
implementation of strategies, operational
plans, and the assessment and control of
nsk Alun Lews, the Company's Chief
Executive, 1s Charman of the Committee

The Audit Committes, the Remuneration &
Management Development Committes, and
the Nomination Committee comprise the
Non-Executive Directors of the Company
Jim Sharp 1s Chairman of the Audit
Committes, David Wilks 1s Chairman of the
Remuneration & Managemant Development
Committee, and Mark Cropper is Chairman
of the Nomination Committee These
committess do not consist solsly of directors
deemed independent under the Combined
Code

The Beard 1s satisfled that the Audit
Committee has at least two members who
have relevant financial expenence

Each of the Commuttees held meetings
dunng the year and their terms of reference
are displayed on the Company’s website

The following table sets out attendance of
the Directors at the Board and Committee
meetings during the financial year

In the few instances when a Director has not
been able to attend a Board or Committes
meeting due to other commitments his
comments on the papers to be considersed
have been commumcated in advance to the
relevant chairman

Group Executive Audit Remuneration Nominations

Board Committes Committee & Management Committee
Meetings Meetings Development
Committes

{Executive Directors attend by inwitation)

(Binthe year) (12 intheyear) (2intheyear) (4inthe year) (3 in the year)

Chalrman

J A Cropper 6 2 3 3
Deputy Chalrman

M A J Cropper 8 2 4 3
Executive Directors

A | Lewis (Chief Executive) 7 1 1 4 2
J M Denman 8 12 2

G T Quayle 7 12

N A Read 8 11

P J Wilhink 8 11

Non Executive Directors

DR Wilks 6 2 4 3
J E Sharp 5 1 1 -

(iv) Re-¢election

The Directors are subject to retirement on a perodic basts and re-slection by
the shareholders in aceordance with the Articles of Association whereby a
director shali retire from office at the first AGM after their appointment and
thereafter shall retire at every third AGM after the AGM at which last appointed
Jim Sharp was appointed a director in September 2009 and offers himself for
re-election James Cropper, Mark Cropper and George Quayle retire by
rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association and, being ehigible, offer
themselves up for re-election

Resclutions 3 to 6 at the Annual General Meeting deal with the proposed re-
elections of directors

(v) Performance Evaluation
The Board undertakes a board evaluation on an annual basis, including the
sub-committees of the Board where appropnate

The performance evaluation process includes the Chairman reviewing and
monitoring the Chief Executive’s performance on an annual basis and the Chiet
Executive reviewing and monrtonng the Executive Directors The high level
indwvidual objectives agreed at the reviews are communicated to the
Remuneration Committee

The Charman reviews the non-executive directors’ performance annually on an
individual basis

The Chairman's performance Is appraised by the senior Independent director
and the other non-executive directors without the Chairman being present, and
the comments fad back to him for discussion

(vl} Financial Pollcles and Internal Controls

The Board 1s committed to presenting a full, balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s position and prospects, both in the Annual
Report and at other times as appropnate throughout the year

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Annual Report, the Directors’
Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union

The Directors are responsible for preparing financiat statements for each
financial year which give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, of the state of affairs of the company and the
group and of the profit or loss of the group for that penod



In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to

« select surtable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently,

» make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent,

+ state whether the financial statements comply with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union,

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above
requirements in preparing the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial posibon of the company and the group and to
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies
Act and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation They are alse
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and
the group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detsction of fraud and other irregultarriies

The Directors are responsible for the mantenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company's website Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislabon in other junsdictions

The Board 1s responsible for and sets appropriate policies on
internal control and seeks regular assurance, at least
annually, that enables it to satsfy itself that processes are
functioning effectively Such a system s designed to manage
rather than eliminate the nsk of falure to achieve business
objectives and can provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against matenal misstatement cr loss If a fallure 1s
discovered the Board will take remedial action

There 1s no internal audit function within the Company and
the Board consider that this 1s appropriate given the nature of
the Group's activities  The letter from the external auditors’
confirming therr indepsndence and objectivity was reviewed
by the Audit Committee KPMG Audt Plc have confirmed
therr independence and the Directors believe KPMG Audit Ple
to be ndependent and objective

The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness
of the Company's financial accounting process

The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) and principal nisks ang
uncertainties affecting the Group are considered in the
Charrman's Review and the Financial Review

{vil} Risk Management

The Directors continually review the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls The Board has overall
ownership of the nsk management strategy and process and
coordinates actvity across the Group There Is an cngoing
process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant
nsks taced by the Group, which has been in place for the year
under review and up to the date of approval of thus Annual
Report The Group manages rnisk by a combination of
insurance and self-insurance Self-insurance refers to actions
taken internally or in conjunction with other third parties In
broad terms, high rnisks in financial and operational areas are
more dependent on insurance than rnisks in commercial and
personnel areas, which because of their nature are more
likely to be managed by self-insurance,

Each subsicdiary company has a strategy and process for
highlighting the key nisk areas of thewr business, and
explaining the control measures and risk exposure It then
takes appropnate steps to manage the rnsk exposure taking
into consideration the ikelihood, impact and cost/benefit of
each of the nisks, In addition to the Audit Committes, which i1s
a mandatory requirernent under the Combined Code, the
Board has Steenng Groups with risk management briefs

These include

* Health & Safety * Environment + Insurance

* Foreign Currency * Human Resources * Purchasing
* Pensions -« Information Systems

(viil) Relations with Shareholders

The Finance Director and Chief Executive keep in contact with
instituttonal investors and any presentations made to them
can be found on the Company’s wabsite

Brewin Dolphin Securities, the Company’s stockbrokers,
arrange a senes of presentations dunng the year to
encourage new sharsholder investment, and the Company's
executives attend private investor trade shows to promote the
Company

The non-executive directors attend the Annual General
Meeting and are avallable for discussions with shareholders

{ix) Going Concern

The Directors consider that the nsks noted in (vi) above are
the most significant to the Group but these do not necessanly
compnse all nsks to which the Group 1s exposed In
particular, the Group’s performance could be adversely
affectad by poor economic condiions Additional nisks and
uncertainties currently unknown to the Directors, or which the
Directors currently believe are immaterial, may alsc have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condtion or
prospects

At 27 March 2010 the Group's available borrowing facilibes
were £10,137,000, of which £5,087,000 was undrawn Hawing
taken account of current borrowings to be repaid within 12
months of the balance sheet date, £6,942,000 was available
to the Group beyond 12 months

The Directors having considered the current trading
prospects, identifiable risks, working capital requirements and
the availabilty of finance are of the opinion that the Group
and Company are going concerns The accounts have been
prepared on this basis

At the Annual General Meeting the Chairman will give an
update on the currer trading position and invites
shareholders to table any questiens and encourages ther
participation

Payment of Creditors

The Company had 40 days (2009 28 days) purchases
outstanding at 27 March 2010 It1s the Group's policy to
agree terms of payment with its suppliers when agreeing the
terms of a business transaction or transactions Al suppliers
are aware of this procedure and the Group abides by the
agreed payment terms subject to the terms and conditions
being met by the suppher

Employee Involvement

Regular Consultative Meetings are held with the employes
trade union representatives to advise them on all aspects of
company developments A monthly brefing on Group
narfnrmanca g carnad nuat for all amnlovaas and thav hava
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access 10 a copy of the Annual Report  As a matter of policy,
plans are formally discussed with those who will use new
equipment, plant and computer systerns before designs are
finahsed Safety Improvement Teams deal with day-to-day
aspects of safety improvemant

The Group operates an Employee Profit Shanng Scheme
which 1s made up of three elements - financial performance,
safety performance, and attendance performance A Save as
You Earn Share Option Scheme s also available to
encourage employee involvemnent

Independent to the assets on the Group Balance Sheet there
15 an Employee Share Trust which currently holds approx
127,000 shares in James Cropper plc for the benefit of all
employees so that their interests are linked to the Company's
future growth

The Trust was set up in 1987 and the inttial finance came from
savings achieved through the introduction of a Profit Related
Pay salary replacement scheme

The share dwidends relating to the shareholding are paid into
the Trust

No director 1s a trustee of the Scheme, and the trustees
confirm that they apply the assets for purely benevolent
purposes

Employment cof Disabled People

It 1s the Group's policy to give equality of opportunity when
considering applications from disabled people where the job
requirements are considered to be within therr abiity When
existing employees become disabled they are retained
wheraver reasonable and practicable The Group tnies to
provide equal promotion opportunities wherever possible

Donations for Political and Charitable Purposes

It is the Company’s policy not to make any donations to, or
incur expenditure on behalf of pohihical parhes, other political
organisations or independent election candidates and the
Board does not intend to change this policy However the
Companies Act 2006 contains restrichons on comparies
making pelitical donations and incurring political expenditure
and it defines these terms very widely Resolution 13 relating
to poliical donations is again being proposed as an ordinary
resolution at the Annual General Meetng tc ensure that the
Company does not commit an inadvertent or technical
infringement of the 2006 Act

Donations totalling £14,000 (2009 £12,000) were made for
various local chartable purposes

Directors’ Authority to Allot Shares

Resolution 10 which will be proposed as an ordinary
rasolution renews an existing authonty which expires this year
and gives the Directors authority to exercise the powers of the
Company to allot un-issued shares

The Directors have no present intention of exercising the
allotment authority proposed by the resolution other than
pursuant to existing nights under employee share schemes
To ensure compliance with instrtutional guidelines and market
practice, it 18 proposed that the authonty will

* be imited to £381,908, being less than one-third of the
Company's issued share capital, and

« expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Mesting
or, If garlier, 15 months from the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting except insofar as commitments to allot
shares have been entered into before that date

It 1s the intention of the Directors to seek a similar authonty
annualty

Directors’ Power to Disapply Pre-emption Rights
Resolution 11 1s being proposed as a special resolution
granting the Directors authority for the ensuing year to allot
shares by way of nghts to shareholders and to 1ssue a
maximum of £211,810 of the nominal share capital of the
Company for cash without first offering the shares to the
existing shareholders pursuant to Section 570 of the
Comparues Act 2006 The resolution also disapplies pre-
exemption nghts in the event of the sale of treasury shares
Other than in the case of nghts 1ssues, the amount of the
general authonty to the Directors 1s Iimited to allotments of
shares for cash up to a total nominal value of £211,810 which
represents approximately 10% of the issued ordinary share
capital The authorty will terminate at the next Annual
General Mesting or 15 months after the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting, whichever comes first The Directors
propose to renew this authonty annually

Company's Authorlty to Purchase Shares

Resolution 12 will be proposed as a spectal resolution to
renew an existing authorty which expires at the Annual
General Mesting and gives the Company authonty to make
rmarket purchases of its own shares The Directors would
only exercise this power when it would be in the interests of
the Group's shareholders as a whole to do so, having regard
to the effect on both earnings and net asset values per share
Currently there 1s no intention of making repurchases

If such repurchases were made, the Directors would have to
agree whether the shares are to be cancelled or to be held in
treasury so as to be avadable for sale at a later date

The amount of the general authority to the Directors
represents approximately 15% of the 1ssued ordinary share
capital The autharity will terminate at the next Annual General
Meeting or 15 months after the forthcoming Annual General
Meehng, whichever comes first The Directors intend to
renew this authority annually

Savings-related Share Option Scheme

Resolution 14 will be proposed as an ordinary rasoluton The
rules of the James Cropper plc Savings-related Share Option
Scheme currently provide that the scheme terminates upon
the tenth anniversary of its adoption by the Company or, if
earlier, by resolution of the Board or the sharsholders in
general meeting The tenth anniversary falls on 2 August
2010 The Company wishas to extend the Iife of the scheme
and, accordingly, t 1s proposed that sharsholders approve
the removal of that provision, and if approved the scheme will
thereafter only terminate by resolution of the Board or the
shareholders



Substantial interests
Shareholdings in excess of 3% of the issued capital at 1 June 2010 were as

follows -
Name of Shareholding Number of Shares % Note
holding  No.
below
M A J Cropper — Directors’ Beneficial interest 1,206 540 142
P J Wilhnk - Directors’ Non-beneficial Interast 1,132,408 i34 1
J A Cropper 1974 Settlement 1,062,974 125 2
J A Cropper - Directors’ Non-beneficial Interest 598,129 71 3
J A Cropper - Directors’ Beneficial Inferest 583,337 69
Pershing Nominees Ltd 516,353 61 5
J M Denman - Directors” Non-beneficial Interest 431,000 51
N A Read ~ Directors’ Non-beneficial Interest 431.000 51
Rarciayshare Nominees Ltd 425,148 50 4

Notes on Shareholding Table
1 included n this percentage 1s 12 5% disclosed in the sharehoiding of
J A Cropper 1974 Settiement
2 Included in this percentage is 6 3 % disclosed i the shareholding of
M A J Cropper - Directors’ Beneficial Interest
3 Inciuded n this percentage s 3 3% disclosed in the shareholding of
M A J Cropper - Directors’ Beneficial Interest.

4 Included in this percantage s 4 2% disclosed in the shareholding af
M A J Cropper - Dirgctors’ Beneficial fnterest and 0 9% disciosed i the
sharsholding of J A Cropper - Directors’ Beneficial Interest

5 Included in this percentage 1s 5 1% disclosed in the shareholding of
J M Denman - Directors' Non-beneficiat Interest and 5§ 1% disclosed in the
shareholding of N A Read - Directors' Non-beneficial Interest

Details of Directors’ Interests

T” "AtZ¥March 2010 | At 28 March 2009

Ordinary Optionson! Ordinary Oplionson
! Shares Ordinary Shares  Qrdinary
' Shares Shares

Director Interest | .
J A Cropper Beneficial | 583,337 - 598,337 -
Non-benehcial ' 598,129 -1 538,129 .
MA J Cropper Beneficial 1,206,540 -1 1,206,540 .
Non-beneficial 160,000 - 160,000 -

i <,

AlLews Benetcial © 37761 400001 37761 44725
JMDenman  Benefical | 5,110 35000 5110 35000
Non-beneficial | 431,000 - ; 431,000 -
N A Read Beneficial . 3289 25,000 | 3,289 29725
Non-bensficial 431,000 - 1 431,000 -
P J Willink Beneficial . 19,781 250001 19781 29725
Non-benefictal ' 1,132,408 - 1,132,408 -
G T Quayle Beneficial 4,221 25,000 4,221 208,725
Non-beneficial . 28,084 - 28,084 .
D R Wilks Beneficial 7,445 . i 7445 .
Non-beneficial 160,000 -t 160,000 -
J E Sharp Beneficial i 7.950 - - -
Non-beneficial | 160,000 i - -
PLHemng*  Beneficial | - -, 59,000 -
Non-benehcial - - 160,060 -

{*retired 28 July 2009}

Auditors and Disclosure of Information to
Audltors

Each Dwrector, as at the date of this report,
has confirmad that insofar as they are aware
there 18 no relevant audit information {that s,
information needed by the Company's
auditors in connection with prepanng their
repart} of which the Company’s auditors are
unawarg, and they have taken all the steps
that they ought to have taken as a Director i
order to make themseives aware of any
relevant audt information and to establish
that the Company's auditors are aware of
that information

The auditor's, KPMG Audt Plc, have
indicated their willingness to continue in
office and Resolution 7 will be proposed at
the Annual General Meeting for their re-
appointment

Detalls of Directors’ Interests

The Diractors who served throughout the
perod are detaded n the Directors’
Remuneration Report, and details of ther
interests in shares of the Company are hsted
above

The Company pays £35.000 annually to
J A Cropper for the use of reservowrs to
supply water to the factory premises

The contract 1S based on a twenty year
repainng lease with rent reviews every five
years

There have been no material changes
between the ysar end and 1 June 2010

Further information refating 10 the miterests of
the Directors ragarding aptions on ordinary
shares 18 given in the Directors’
Remuneration Report

Non-benefictal interests include shares held
jcintly as trustee with other Directors

Approved by the Board of Directors on
21 June 2010 and were signed on its behalf
by

e

J A Cropper
Chairman

Burneside Mills
Kendal
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

This Report provides details of Directors’ remuneration.

Service Contracts

The Executive Directors are employed on
roling one year contracts subject to one
year's notice served by the Group on the
Executive, and six months notice served by
the Executive on the Group The Chairman
15 employed on a rolling contract subject to
three months notice by erther side  Other
Non-Executive Directors are on one month's
notice by either side and they are typically
expected to serve two three-year terms, with
addihonal terms of office agreed on an
annual basts

Salaries and Fees

The remuneration and emoluments of
Executive Directors are determined by the
Remuneration Committee The remuneration
of the Non-Executive Directors 1s agreed by
the Group Board and they areé not entitled to
partcipate in pension schemes, bonus
arrangements or share schemes The basic
salanes of the Executive Directors are
reviewed annually and take into
censideration cost of living and overall
accountability Also considered 1s
remuneration paid to senior executives in
comparable public companies This
information 1s checked by reference to
published surveys, but no formula s in place
to determine any specific relationship

The remuneration of senior management 1s
discussed by the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and the Chief
Executive and ther recommendations
endorsed by the Remuneratton Committee

No Director can take part in the decision on
his own salary or reward

Annual Bonus

The Group operates an Executive Directors'
Reward Scheme which is structured to
reward the Executive Directors if targets are
achieved on group profitability, return on
investment, safety, productivity
improvements and a discretionary element
agreed by the Remuneration Committee
The total bonus payable to a director 1s
capped at 25% of ther contractual salary
and 1s not pensionable

Employee Share Schemes

The Group operates Inland Revenue
Approved and Unapproved Share Option
Schemes, and a Long Term Incentive Plan
Schame for the Executive Directors, of which
dstails of the options granted are shown
later in this Report

Comparison of Ten Year Cumulative Total Shareholder Return (TSR)

To enable shareholders to assess the Company's performance aganst the
London Stock Exchange, the cumulative TSR for the period ended 27 March
2010 1s shown in the graph below The FTSE All Share 1s deemed to be the
most appropriate comparnson in terms of performance TSR 1s the total return
to shareholders in terms of capital growth and dividends reinvested

Total Shereholder Return

Details of Directors’ Remuneration

The financial detalls wihin this report have been audited The following table
bnngs together the vanous elements of remuneration of each director for the
financial year period ended 27 March 2010

Salary and Fees Benefits
2010 2009 2010 2009

Annual Bonus Total
2010 2009 2010 2009

£'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive
AllLews 113 109 17 17 28 5 168 131
J M Denman 90 86 17 17 23 4 130 107
N A Read 85 8z 15 14 21 6 121 102
P J Willink 85 82 18 17 21 6 124 105
G T Quayle 20 84 17 16 23 9 13¢ 108
Non-Executive
J A Cropper 32 32 17 16 - - 49 48
M A J Cropper 30 28 - - - - 30 29
D R Wilks 20 17 - - - - 20 17
J E Sharp 10 - - - - - 10 -
P L Herrnng* 5 17 - - - - 5 17
J R Sclater** - 5 - - - - - 5
560 543 101 97 116 30 777 670
*Retwred 29 July 2009 ** Retired 31 July 2008
Highest paid Director
2010 2008
£'000 £'000
Aggregate emoluments 158 131
Accrued pension under defined benefit pension scheme 42 38
Leng term incentive scheme 15 19




Directors’ Pensions

The Executive Directors who served duning the year have retirement benefits accruing under the Group’s Statf Pension Scheme,
which i1s a Defined Benefit Scheme

The following table shows the amount of entitlements earned, the accrued pension liabilities and the changes therein

Increase Increase Total Transfer  Increase in Transfer Transfer

in accrued in accrued accrued  value of net transfer value of value of

pension pension pensionat  Increase In value less accrued accrued

per annum aexcluding 27 March  accrual after dwectors’ pansion at pension at

inflation 2010 inflation contributions 27 March 28 March

per anhum perannum  over period 2010 2009

£'000 £000 £°000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

Allews 3 3 42 34 Il 583 502
J M Denman 5 5 44 66 107 733 619
N A Read 3 3 40 33 71 620 542
P J Willink 2 2 26 13 31 255 217
G T Quayle 3 3 26 40 63 425 355

The accrued pension 1s the amount that the director would receive 1f he retired at the end of the year
The increase in the accrued pension 1s the difference between the accrued benefit at the year end and that at the previous year

end

All transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuanal advice tn accordance with Actuanal Guidance Note GN11

The transfer values represent the value of assets that the pension scheme would need to transfer to another pension provider on
transferning the scheme’s liability in respect of the directors’ pension benefits They do not represent sums payable to indvidual
directors and thersfore cannot be added meaningfully to annual remuneration

The increase In transfer value less directors’ contributions s the increase In the transfer value of the accrued benefits during the

year after deducting the directors’ personal contributions to the scheme

The transter value of net increase in accrual, required by the Listing Rules, discloses the current value of the increase in accrued
benefits that the director has eamed in the penod, whereas his change in transfer value, required by the Companies Act, discloses
the absolute increase or decreases in his transfer value and includes the change in value of the accrued benefits that results fram
market volatity affecting the transfer value at the beginning of the period, as well as the addrtional value earned in the year

Share Optlons

At the 1998 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the introduction of the 1998 Inland Revenue Approved Share Option

Scheme

The movements on this Scheme dunng the year were

Number Number Number Options Exercise Number

at 28 March granted exercised lapsed Price at 27 March

2009 N penod N penod n penod £ Exercisable 2010

AllLews 4,725 - - 4,725 2059 Dec 2002 to Dec 2009 -
N A Read 4,725 - - 4,725 2059 Dec 2002 to Dec 2009 -
P J Willink 4,725 - - 4,725 2059 Dec 2002 to Dec 2009 -
G T Quayle 4,725 - - 4,725 2059 Dec 2002 to Dec 2009 -
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

continued

At the 2000 Annual General Meeting shareholders approved the introduction of the Unapproved Part of the 1998 Senior Executive
Share Option Scheme

The movements on this Scheme dunng the year were

Number Number Number Options Exercise Number

at 28 March granted exercised lapsed Price at 27 March

2008 In period in period th penod £ Exercisable 2010

Allews 10,000 - - - 2615 Aug 2003 to Aug 2010 10,000
30,000 - - . 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 30,000

J M Denman 20,000 - - - 2615 Aug 2003 to Aug 2010 20,000
15,000 - - - 2085 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

N A Read 10,000 - - - 2615 Aug 2003 to Aug 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 Jung 2004 to June 2011 15,000

P J Wiliink 10,000 - - - 2615 Aug 2003 to Aug 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

G T Quayle 10,000 - - - 2615 Aug 2003 to Aug 2010 10,000
15,000 - - - 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 15,000

The options for the 1998 Share Option Schemes are subject to the performance condition that before the options can be exercised,
the growth in earmings per share must exceed the growth in Retail Pnice Index plus 2% per annum for the Approved Scheme, and
plus 3% per annum for the Unapproved Scheme, over a period of three consecutive years commencing no earlier than the date of
the grant of the options  These performance conditions were considered to be appropriate measures when the schemes were
introduced

The options can be exercised at any time after three years as long as the performance conditions have been reached in any three
year period since the option was granted

Long Term Incentlve Plans
Awards were made during the year under the Long Term Incentive Plan wers as follows

Number Number Number Options Number

at 28 March granted exercised lapsed at 27 March

2009 in penod in penod In penod 2010

Al Lews 40,000 25,000 - - 65,000
J M Denman 32,000 20,000 - - 52,000
N A Read 32,000 20,000 - - 52,000
P J Willink 32,000 20,000 - - 52,000
G T Quayle 32,000 20,000 - - 52,000

The maximum number of shares that can be awarded to any participant in a financial year under the Long Term Incentive Scheme,
determined by reference to average mid market prices at the time of the award, I1s linited to 50% of the participant's basic salary
The average rid market price of the awards granted in the year was £1 122

The Awards are subject 1o the following performance conditions

= Awards will vest in full if the earnings per share, adjusted for IFRS pension adjustments, exceed the increase in retail price index
plus 10% per annum over a three year period,

+ Awards will vest as to 10% if the earnings per share, adjusted for IFRS pension adjustments, exceed the increase in retall prce
index plus 2 5% per annum over a three year period,

+ Awards will vest proportionally between 10% and 100% if the earnings per share, adjusted for [FRS adjustments, exceed the
increase in retail price index by more than 2 5% and less than 10% per annum over a three year penod,

= Awards will lapse if earnings per share, adjusted for [FRS pension adjustments, do not exceed the increase In retail price plus
2 5% per annum over a three year penod

The market price of the shares at the period end was £1 35 and the high and low for the period was £1 56 and £0 765 respectively

D R Wilks
Chalrman of the Remuneration Committee

21 June 2010



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

to the members of James Cropper plc

We have audited the financial statements of James Cropper plc for the
year ended 27 March 2010 set out on pages 34 to 64. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in thelr preparation is
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the EU and, as regards the parent company financlal
statements, as applled In accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006,

This report 1s made salely to the company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008 Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we might stats to the company's members
those matters we are required 10 state to them in an auditors' report and for no
other purpose, To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's
members, as a bady, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed

Respective responsiblilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiliies Statement set out on
page 25, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our
responsibility 1$ to audit the financial statements in accordance with apphcable
taw and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards
require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's (APB's) Ethical
Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
A descnption of the scope of an audit of financial statements s provided on the
APB's web-site at www fre org uk/apb/scope/UKNP

Opinion on financial statements
In our opimion

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group's
and of the parent company's affars as at 27 March 2010 and of the group's
profit for the 52 weaek pericd then ended,

« the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

« the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as appiled in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 2008, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Comparies Act 2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companles Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prapared 15 consistent with the
financial statements

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

Wa have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters where the Companias Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, In our
opinien

« adequate accounting records have not
been kept by the parent company, or
returns adequate for our audit have not
been received from branches not wisited
by us, or

« the parent company financial statements
are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns, or

+ certain disclosures of diractors'
remuneraton specified by law are not
made, or

+ we have not received all the information
and explanations we require for our audit

A_cJA“"”/
Jonathan Hurst
Senior Statutory Auditor

for and on behalf of

KPMG Audtt Ple, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

Edward VIl Quay

Nawvigation Way

Praston

PR2 2YF

21 June 2010
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the peniod ended 27 March 2010

(2009 period ended 28 March 2009}

Note 2010 2009
£'000 £'000

Continuing operations
Revenuse 2 76,230 74,803
Other income 208 277
Changes in inventones of finished goods and work 1n progress 160 272
Raw matenals and consumables used (32,338) {33,895)
Energy costs (3,111} {5,199}
Employee benefit costs 20 (19,909) (18211}
Depreciation and amortisation 4 {3,138} (3,179}
Other expenses (14,789) {13,788}
Operating profit 2 3,313 1,080
Interest expense 3 @10 {493}
Interest income 3 13 271
Profit before tax 4 2,416 858
Tax expense 5 (608) {945)
Profit/(ioss) for the pericd 1,808 (87)
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation (267) 546
Retirement benefit labilities - actuanal losses {4,849) (7.,734)
Deferred tax on actuanal losses on reirement benefit labilihes 1,358 2,166
Total comprehensive income for the perlod attributable to equity
holders of the Company (1,950) (5,109)
Earmings/(losses) per share, based on prcfit/loss for the year after tax and
expressed in pence per share 6
-Basic 213p (1.0p)
-Diluted 21 1p (10p)
Dividends per share expressed in pence per share 7
-2010 intenm dmvidend paid 22p 11p
-2010 final dividend proposed 53p 4 0p




STATEMENT OF

as at 27 March 2010

{2009 as at 28 March 2009)

FINANCIAL POSITION

Group Company
Note 2010 2008 2010 2009 '
Restated !
£000 £'000 £000 £'000
Assets -
Intangible assets 8 2,096 2,012 1,879 1,713
Praperty, plant and equipment 9 16,863 18,483 2,258 2,228
Investments in subsichary undertakings 10 - - 7,350 7,350
Deferred tax assets 17 189 - 3,462 2,541 !
ﬂmanéu;ent assets T 19,148 20,495 14,949 13_83_5 ) ‘
Current assets
Inveniories 11 10,185 10,422 - -
Trade and other recewvables 12 14,509 12,838 33,739 31,132
Cash and cash equivalents 5,050 2,636 3,420 2,054
Current tax assets . - 42 7 .
Total current assets - - 29,754 25 894 3r.201 33,195_
Total assets oo T 48,902 46,389 52,150 47,025
Liabilities :
Trade and other payables 13 11,081 7.662 18,338 12,815
Loans and borrowings 14 3,185 2,134 1,525 2,134 |
Current tax habiliies 749 ain . .
Total current liabilitles T 15,025 10,597 19,863 14,949
Long-term barrowings 14 1,886 4,954 1,886 3.189
Retrement benefit habilities 16 14,180 9.076 14,180 9,076
Deferred tax habilities 17 - 1,588 - 548
Yotal non—current habilities T 16,066 15 618 16,066  12.813
Total liabitities 31,001 26,215 35,929 27,762
Equity
Ordinary share capital 18 2,118 2,118 2,118 2,118
Share premum 19 573 573 573 573
Transiation reserve 19 265 532 - . '
Retained earnings 19 14,855 16,951 13,530 16.572
ﬁal—sharehoﬁeréﬁ&al?y“ o 17,811 _"2"6, 178 1 6,221 19,263
Total equity and labilities T T T s 02 46,389 52,150 47,025

The inanctal statements on pages 34 to 64 were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 June 2010 and were signed on its

behalf by

e
J A Cropper
Director

Company Registration No 30226
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the period endad 27 March 2010

{2008 period ended 28 March 2009)

Group Caompany
2010 2009 2010 2009
Restated
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit/(loss) 1,808 {87) 872 2,407
Adjustments for
Tax 608 945 (104} 248
Depreciation 3,138 3,179 505 430
Net IAS 19 pension adjustments within Statement of
Comprehensive Income as 250 881 250
Past service pension deficit payments (626) (712) (626) (712)
Foreign exchange {gan)/loss on currency borrowings (a6) 506 - -
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 28 9 - -
Net bank interest income & expense 270 448 {849) (1,348)
Share based payments 102 147 102 147
Dwidends received from Subsiciary Companies - - (2,700) (2,500)
Changes in working capltal-
Decrease/{increass} in inventories 227 {782) - -
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables {1,673) 1,382 (1,608) (2,209)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2,832 (832) 6,011 10,051
Interest receved 14 45 1,042 1,582
Interest pawd {136) 514) {42) {247y
Tax pad (1,089) {406) (1,128} (408)
Net cash generated from/(used by) operating activities 5,288 3,578 2,356 7,683
Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of niangible assets {15) {262) {15) {262)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {1,213) {1,071) (239) 91)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equiprment 2 5 - -
Dvidends received - - 2,700 2,500
Net cash {used in)/generated from investing activities {1,226) (1,328) 2,446 2,147
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from 1ssue of new loans 329 1,392 329 1,392
Repayment of borrowings (2,240} {2,744) (2.240) (2,744)
{Repayment)/issue of inter-company loans - - {1,000} {2,092)
Didends paid to shareholders {515) (525) {525) {525)
Net cash (used In}/ generated from financing activities (2,426) 1.81T) (3,436) {3,969)
Net Increase/{decrease) In cash and cash equivalents 2,636 373 1,366 5,871
Effects of exchange gains on revafuation of net assets held in USA (222} 346 - -
Net increase/{decreass) in cash and cash equivalents 2,414 719 1,366 5,871
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the pencd 2,636 1,917 2,054 (3,817)
Cash and cash aequivalents at the and of the period 5,050 2,635 3,420 2,054
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash at bank and in hand 5,050 2,636 3,420 2,054




STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Group Company

Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

£'000 £000 £'000 £000

Opening shareholders' funds 20,174 25,661 19,263 22,803
Profit/(loss) for the period 1,808 87 872 2,406
Exchange dfferences (267} 548 - -
Actuanal losses on retirement {3,491} {5,568) (3,491) (5,568)
Share-based payments 102 147 102 147
Dividends paid (515) {525) (525) (525)
Closing shareholders' funds 19 17,811 20,174 16,221 19,263

The movement in shareholders funids solely relates to retained earnings, other than the £267,000 of exchange differences taken
directly to the translation reserve
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 Accounting pelicles

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
these financtal statements are set out below These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated

Basls of preparation
The acecunting “year” for the Group 1s a 52 week accounting
penod ending 27 March 2010

Throughout these notes, the following references apply
The Statement of Comprehensive Income s referenced as
“8CI"

The Statement of Financial Position 1s referenced as “SFP”

Both the parent company financial statements and the Group
financial statements have been prepared and approved by the
directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU ("Adopted IFRSs™) On
publishung the parent company financial statements here
tegether with the Group financial statements, the Company i1s
taking advantage of the exemption 1n 5408 of the Companies
Act 2006 not to present its indivdual Statement of
Comprehensive Income and related notes that form a part of
these approved financial statements

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting pringiples requires the use of
estmates and judgements that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period  Although these estimates are based on
management's best knowledge of the amount, event or
actions, actual results ulimately may differ from those
estimates

The following are the policies and accompanying notes are
where the assumptions and judgements made by
management could have an impact on the Group's
consohdated financial statements

Note 9 Property, plant and equipment

It 15 the Group’s policy to depreciate categonies within
property, ptant and equipment on a straight line basis over
therr estimated useful lives A key element of this policy is the
estimate of the useful life applied to each category of asset
which in turn determines the annual depreciation charge
Vanations in asset lives could affect Group profit through an
increase or decrease in the depreciation charge

Note 11 Inventories

in the course of normal trading activiies management uses its
Judgement to establish the net realisable value of its stocks
Provisions are established for obsolete or slow moving stocks,
based on past practice, current condrions and aged inventory
tacts avallable to management

Note 12 Trade debtors

In estimating the collectability of trade debtors judgement is
required and the policies in regard to credrt nsk are further
described in note 156 2

Note 16 Retiremant benefits

Assumptions used n the calculation of the Group's retrament
habilty have the biggest impact on these financial statements
and are detalled in note 16

Company restatemeny

During the year the Group has reconsidered the disclosure of
intra-group assets and liabilties within the accounts in order to
bring greater clanty and to standardise reporting across the
different businesses One category of intra-group assets and
lhabilties 1s intra-group funding which 1s used to faciltate the
flow of funds around the Group These balances are repayable
upon demand For the purposes of the Annual Statements as
at 28 March 2009 the Company treated the intercompany
funding Lhabilthes as “Intercompany loans™ within “Current
Borrowings™ The other businesses within the Group treated
intercompany funding as “Amounts owed to/ by group
undertakings” within “Current Debtors™ or “Current Creditors”
as appropnate

The Company decided that t was more appropriate to have
treated inter-company funding liabilibes as debtor or creditor
balances and has determined the need to adjust the
presentation of the 28 March 2009 balances in order to align
with the other businesses within the Group Pnor to 2008 intra
Group funding was not present and for this reason only the
annual statements for 2009 have been restated The
adjustrent has the effect of reducing the Company’s Current
Borrowings by £10 2m and increasing the Company's
Creditors “Amounts owed to group undertakings™ by £10 2m
These re-statements have besn descnbed in Note 13 Trade
and other payables and Note 14 Borrowings respectively

The restatement of the Company intra-group habilimes has no
effect on the Group's consohdated financtal statements

Basls of consolldation

The financial statements of the Group consolidate the
accounts of the company and those of its subsidiary
undertakings No subsichanes are excluded from
consolidaton The results and cash flows of subsidiary
undertakings acquired are included from the effective date of
acquisition Intragroup balances and any unrealised income
and expenses ansing from intra-group transactions are
elminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements

Subsidianes are entties controlled by the Group Control
exists when the Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to
obtain benefits from its activites The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases

Revenue recognition

Revenue compnises the fair value of the consideration for the
sale of goods and services, net of value added tax, rebates
and discounts Revenue from the sale of goods 1s recognised
when the Group has transferred nsks and rewards of
ownership of products to the customer, the amount of revenue
can be measured reliably and collectability of the related
recervables 1s reasonably assured Whilst the Groups revenue
in respect of services 1s minimal where such services are
provided revenue 1s recognised on completion of the services,
when the amount can be reliably measured and collection is
reasonably assured




Operating segments

IFRS 8 Operating Segments has been adopted by the Group
and requires that entities reflect the ‘management approach'
to reporting the financial parformance of its operating
segments Management has determined the segments that
are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker, identsfied as
the Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions The
committes considers the business principally via the five main
business segments, on the basis of s statutory structure
Business segments are those components of the Group that
are engaged In providing a group of related products that are
subject to nsks and returns that are different to other business
segments Geographical segments are components where
the eventual product destination 1s in a particular geographic
environment which 1s subject to nisks and returns that are
different from other such segments Costs are allocated to
segments based on the segment to which they relate Central
costs are recharged on an appropniate basis

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary
assets and habilihes denorminated in foreign currencies at the
Statement of Financial Position date are translated at the
fareign exchange rate ruling at that date Foreign exchange
differences ansing on translation are recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income Non-monetary assets
and habilities that are measured in terms of historical costin a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the
date of the transaction

The assets and habilities of foreign operations are translated at
foreign exchange rates ruling at the Statement of Financial
Posihicn date The revenues and expenses of foreign
operations are translated at an average rate for the pernod
where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions Exchange differences
ansing from translation of foreign operations are taken directly
to the translation reserve, they are released into the Statement
of Comprehensive Income upon disposal

The portion of gain or loss on foreign currency borrowings
that are used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation,
that 1s determined to be an effective hedge, 1s included as a
movement in the cumulative translation reserve On
subsequent disposal such gains or losses will form part ef the
profitioss on disposal within the Statement of Comprehensive
Income Any ineffective portion 1s recogrised immediately in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income This Policy has
been adopted for the first tme in this penod ended 27 March
2010

Research and development

Research expenditure 1s recognised as an expense as
incurred Costs incurred on development projects {relating to
the design and testing of new or mproved products) are
recognised as Intangible assets when the IAS38 condrtions are
met Other development expenditures are recognised as an
expense Is incurred Development costs with a finite ussful Iife
that have been capitalised are amortised from the
commencement of the commercial production of the product
on a straight-ine basis over the perod of its expectad benefit,
not exceeding S years

Retirement benefits

The Group operates vanous pension schemes The schemes
are generally funded through payments to trustee-
administered funds, determined by penodic actuanal
valuations The Group has both defined benefit and defined
contnbution plans A defined benefit plan 1s a pension plan
that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee
will recerve on retirement A defined contribution plan s a
pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contnibutions

The liability recogrised in the Statement of Financial Position
in respect of defined benefit pension plans 1s the present value
of the defined benefit obligation at the Statement of Financial
Position date less the fair valus of plan assets The defined
benefit obligation 1s calculated annually by independent
actuartes using the projected unit credit method The present
valus of the defined bensfit obligation 1s determined by
discounting the estimated future cash flows using interest
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the bensfits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturty approximating to the terms of the related
pension habilty

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from experience
adjustments and changes in actuanal assumphions are
recogrised in the peniod in which they occur outside of
Statement of Comprehensive Income in the Statement of
Changes in Equity

Past service costs are recognised immediately in income,
unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the
employees remaining in service for a speciiied penod of time
{the vesting penod) In this case, the past-service costs are
amortised on a straught-line basis over the vesting pericd

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays agreed
contributions to the schemes The Group has no further
payment oblhigations once the contnibutions have been paid
The contnibutions are recogrised as an employee benefit
expense when they are due

Sharae based payments

Options granted to employees are recogrused as employee
expenses based on far valus at grant date, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the penod in which the
employees become uncondiionally entitled to the options
The fair value of the options granted 1s measured using an
option valuation model, taking nto account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of share options that vest except where forferture 1s
due only to share prices not achieving the threshold for
vesting

Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairments losses, if any

The following useful Iives have been determined for intangible
agsets

Trade secrets such as processes or unique recipes -10 years
Computer software - 3 to 10 years

Emission Allowances - 0 years (refer to note below on
Emissions trading scheme for policy)
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Property plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumutated depreciation Depreciation is provided on all
property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land, at
rates calculated to write off the cost less residual value of each
asset evenly over its expected useful Iife, as follows

Freehold land and buildings - 14 to 40 years
Plant and machinery - 4 to 20 years
Residual values and useful ives are reviewed annually

inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Costis determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method The cost of fimshed goods and work in progress
compnses design costs, raw matenals, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity) It excludes borrowing costs Net
realisable value 1s the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable vanable selling expenses

Emissions trading scheme

The Group’s power generation facilities became subject to the
European Union Emission Trading Scheme ("EUETS") as from
1 January 2008 The Group’s 1s permitted to emit 41,000
tonnes of carbon dioxide in a calendar year Credits for this
quantum are 1ssued to the Group free of charge by HM
Government The Group has adopted an accounting policy
which recognises the emission allowances as an intangible
asset and an associated llabilty The intangible asset s
valued at the market price on the date of issue The hability 15
valued at the market price on the date of 1ssue up to the level
of allocated allowances held Should emissions exceed the
annual allowance any excess of liability above the level of the
allowances held is valued at the market price ruling at the
Statemant of Financial Position date and charged against
operating profit Un-utiised allowances are mantained against
a potential future shortall When allowances are utilised both
the intangible asset and hability are amortised to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income Currently the Group's
smissions are running in line with ts permitted EVETS
allowance and hence there 1S no impact on profit At 27 March
2010 the intangible asset and an associated hability were
valued at £817,000 The kabilty 1s categonsed under current
habilities

Grants

Capital grants are credited to a deferral account and released
to iIncome over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets
Grants of a revenue nature are credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income in the penod to which they relate

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases at inception wheare
substantially all of the nsks and rewards of ownership are
transferred to the Group Assets classified as finance leases
are capitalised on the Statement of Financial Position and are
depreciated over the expected useful lfe of the asset The
interest slement of the rental obligation 1s charged to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income over the penod of the
lease and represents a constant proportion of the balance of
capital repayments outstanding Operating lease payments
are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the
appropriate penod

Taxatlon

Tax on the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year
compnises current and defarred tax Tax ts recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive income except to the extent that
it relates to tems recognised directly in equity, in which case it
Is recognised In equity

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and habilihes for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes The
following temporary differences are not provided for the intial
recognition of goodwill, the intial recogrition of assets or
habilities that affect nerther accounting nor taxable profit other
than in a business combination, and differences relating to
investments in subsidranes to the extent that they will probably
not reverse in the foreseeable future The amount of deferred
tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or
setttement of the carrying amount of assets and lhabiliies,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
Statement of Financial Position date

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrised only to the extent that it 1s
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utihsed

Financial Instruments

Denvatives are initially recogrised at fair value on the date a
dervative contract 1s entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair value at each Statement of Financial
Position date The resutting gan or loss on re-measurement 1s
recognised in the Staterent of Comprehensive Income,
unless hadge accounting 1s applicable There wera no matenal
balances at the year end

Loans and receivables are non-denvative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted inan
active market They arise when the Group provides money,
goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of
trading the receivable They are included in current assets,
except those with maturihies greater than twelve months after
the Staterment of Financial Postion date, which are classified
as non-current assets Loans and receivables are included
within trade and other receivables in the Statement of
Financiat Position

The fair vatue of financial instruments traded in active markets
1s based on quoted market prices at the Statement of Financial
Position date

Investments
Trade investments are stated at cost less any impairment in
value

The Group's share of the profit less losses of joint ventures 1s
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on the
equity accounting basis  The carrying value of joint ventures
in the Group Statement of Financial Position 1s calculated by
reference to the Group's equity in the net assets of such joint
ventures as shown in the most recent accounts

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other shori-term highly liquid
investments with onginal maturities of three months or less,
and bank overdrafts Bank overdrafts are shown as
borrowings within current liabilittes on the Statement of
Financial Positon Bank overdrafts that are repayable on



demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose only of the Statement of Cash
Flows

Borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised inttially at farr value, net of
transaction costs incurred Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost, any difference between the proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 15
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over
the pericd of the borrowings using the effective interest
method Interest s not capitalised within property, plant and
equipment

Interest

Interest is recogmsed in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income on an accruals basis using the effective interest
method

Trade recelvables
Trade receivables are recorded at their tair value after
appropnate revision of impairment

Trade payables
Trade payables are stated at their far value

Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there i1s
any indication that an asset may be impared Where an
indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of
recoverable amount Where the carrying value of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount the asset i1s wrtten down to its
recoverable amount Recoverable amount 1s the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and value in use and 15 deemed for an
individual asset If the asset does not generate cash flows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit
to which the asset belongs is determined Discount rates
reflecting the asset specific nsks and the tme value of money
are used for the value in use calculation

Capital Management

Group and Company's capital includes share capital, reserves
and retained earnings The Group and Company's policy 1s to
maintain the ability to continve as a going concern, in order to
provide returns to the shareholder and benefits to other
stakeholders The Group, and Company, invest in financial
assets that will provide an adequate level of return to the
shareholder commensurate with the level of nsk

The Group and Company manages the capital structure and
adjusts this in light of the changes in the economic conditions
and nisk associated with the undertying assets In order to
maintain or adjust the capttal structure, the Group and
Company may adjust the amount of any dmidend pad to the
shareholder, return capital to the shareholder, issues new
shares, or sell asssts to reduce debt The Group, and
Company, are not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements There have been no matenal changes in the
management of capital during the penod

Golng Concern

James Cropper plc 1s accounting under the going concern
assumption See the Report of the Directors section (ix} for the
basis of the going concern assumption

New standards and interpretation not applled

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have heen issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and IFRIC which have not
yet been adopted by the Group

International Accounting Standards
and Interpretations Effective date

IFRS 3 Revised - Business Combinations 1 July 2009

IAS 27 Amendment — Consalidated and

Separate Financial Statements 1 July 2009

IAS 38 Amendment - Intangible Assets 1 July 2009

IFRS ¢ Financial Instruments 1 January 2013

These standards and interpretations have not been adopted in
these financial statements It1s not anticipated that the
adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a
significant on the group's financial statements on initial
adoption
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2 Segmental reporting

IFRS 8 Operating Segments - requires that entities adopt the ‘management approach’ to reporting the financial performance of its
operating segments Management has determined the segments that are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision- maker, identfied as the Executive Committee that makes strategic decisions The

committee considers the business principally via the five main business segments, on the basis of its statutory structure, prnincipally
based in the UK

» JC Speciality Papers — relates to James Cropper Specialty Papers a manufacturer of coloured paper and boards
= The Paper Mill Shop - relates o the retailing of paper and associated products

« JC Converting - relates to James Cropper Converting Converting of paper

» Technical Fibre Products — Manufacture of high performance wet-laid non-wovens from fibres

« Group Services — comprises central functions providing services to the subsidiary companies

Business segments
Perlod ended 27 March 2010

JC Technical
Speciality The Paper JC Fibre Group
Papers Mill Shop Converting Products Services Other Elminations Group
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue
- External 50,283 5,516 10,442 9,989 - - - 76,230
- Inter-segment 2,651 - 688 - - - (3,339) -
Total Revenue 52,934 5,516 11,130 9,989 - - (3,339) 76,230
Segment Profit
Trading Operating Profit
before Interest 3,437 {446} 446 1,327 {1,196) - - 3,568
IAS 19 Pension adjustments
to segment profit - - - - (255} - - (255)
Operating Profit 3,437 (446) 446 1,327 {1,451) - - 3313
Interest Expense (910)
Interest Income 13
Profit before tax 2,416
Tax on profit for year from
continuing operations (608)
Profit tor the year from
continuing operations 1,808
Total Assets 32,647 1,466 8,699 16,048 52,150 1,794 {63,902) 48,902
Total Liabnlities (26,252) (2.270) (68,310) {13,109) (35,929) (368) 53,147 (31,091)

“Eliminations” refers to the elimination of inter-sagment revenues, profits and investments “Trading Operating Profit before Interest”
refers 1o profits pnor to other Income and expenditure and the IAS 19 pension adjustment The “IAS 19 pension adjustment” refers
to the Impact on operating profits of the pension schemes' operating costs, as descnbed in the IAS 19 section of the Financsal
Review “Interest Expense” incorporates the 1AS 19 pension impact of the pension schemes’ finance costs, as described n the 1AS
19 section of the Financial Review The net [AS 19 pension adjustments to Operating profit and interest can be seen in the Summary
of Results “Profit before tax” 1s consistent with that reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income Inter segment transactions
are performed at arms length



Business segments

Period ended 28 March 2009
Jc Technical
Speciality The Paper JC Fibre Group
Papers MiliShop Converting Products  Services Other Eliminations Group
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Revenue
- External 47,148 5674 10,333 11,648 - - - 74803
- Inter-segment 2,676 - 662 - - - (3,338} -
49,824 5,674 10,995 11,648 - - (3,338) 74,803
Profit
Trading Operating Profit
before Interest (310) (388) 406 2,099 (251) - - 1,556
IAS 19 Pension adjustments
to segment profit - - - - (476) - - (476)
Operating Profit (310 (388) 406 2,099 (727) - - 1,080
Interest Expense {493)
Interest income 271
Profit belore tax 858
Tax on profit for year from continuing operations
and before exceptional tax item (358)
Profit for the year from continuing operations
betore exceptional tax charge 500
Exceptional tax charge (587)
Loss for the year (87)
Total Assets 29,827 1,824 9,158 11,547 45,627 1,786 {53,426) 46,343
Total Liabilities (24,5786) {2,179) {7,107) {9.406)  {26,284) (368) 43,751 (26,169)

The group’s manufacturing cperations are principally based inthe UK The sales analysis in the table below 15 based on the

location of the customer

Revenue Revenue

2010 2009
£'000 £'000

Continuing operations
UK 43,330 42,499
Europe 17,758 17,015
Asia 4,960 4,176
The Americas 8,899 9,155
Australasia 839 1,556
Afnica 444 403

76,230 74,803
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3 Finance Costs 2010 2009
£9000 £'000
Interest expense
Interest payable on bank borrowings 2565 424
Interest payable on finance leases 29 60
Other interest payable - 9
Retirement benefits
Expected return on pension scheme assets (3,202) -
Interest on pension scheme (abilities 3,828 -
Total interest expense 916 493
Interest Income
Interest recevable on bank borrowings 13 45
Retirement benefits
Expected return on pension scheme assels - 4,179
Interest on pension scheme liabilihes - {3,953}
Total interest income 13 271
Finance costs - net 897 222
4 Profit/(loss) before tax
2010 2009
£'000 £000
The following tems have been charged/(credited) in arnving at profit before tax
Staff Costs 19,909 18,211
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
- owned assets 2,778 2,898
- amortisation of intangibles 360 281
Loss/ (profit) on disposal of fixed assets 28 9
Other operating lease rentals payable
- Plant & machinery 657 663
- Retail outlets 930 999
Repauirs and maintenance expenditure on property, plant and equipment 3,148 2,772
Government grants received (150) (252)
Research and development expenditure 1,148 976
Fareign exchange differences (4) {368)
Trade receivables impairment 19 180

Government grants relate to assistance recewved for research projects and the development of new technology

Services Provided by the Group's Auditor and network firms
During the year the group obtained the following services from the group's

audrtor at costs as detailed below 2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Augdit Services
- Fees payable to the company's auditor for the audit of parent
company and consolidated accounts i7 15

Other services
- Remuneration payable to the company’s auditor for the auditing
of subsidiary accounts and associates of the company pursuant to

legislation {including that of countnies and territories outside Great Britain) 41 44
- Fess in respect of other accountancy matters 11 2
- Tax advisory services 19 25

a8 a6




5 Taxatlon
Analysis of charge in the period

2010 2009
Continulng operations Note £'000 £000
Current tax 1,066 719
Adjustments in respect of prior period current tax 42) (161)
Foreign tax 3 (76)
Total current tax 1,027 482
Deferred tax {406) 366
Adjustments in respect of prior period deferred tax (13} 97
Total deferred tax 17 {(419) 463
Taxation 608 945
Tax on items charged to equity
Deferred tax on actuanal gans on retirement benefit habilties {1,358) (2,166)
The tax for the penod i1s higher from the standard rate of corporation tax
in the UK (28%)
The differences are explained below

2010 2009

£000 £'000
Profit before tax 2,416 858
Profit on ordinary activities muthiphed by rate of corporation tax
tn the UK of 28% (2009 28%) 677 241
Effects of
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior penod (56} (148)
Overseas tax rates 1 54
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (32} 124
Other 18 87
Deferred tax movement on assets becoming non-qualifying - removal of IBA's* - 587
Total tax charge for the perlod 608 945

* The phasing out of Industral Buldings Allowance (“IBA") in 2008/09 resulted in an exceptional Deferred Tax charge of

£587,000 In previous years future entittement for tax relief ansing from IBA had been accounted for as a “deferred asset” on the

Statement of Financial Position With the removal of this entitement the benefit from this “deferred asset” will no longer

matenalise thus leading to it being written off in 2009
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6 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share 1s calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary sharehclders by the weighted averagse
number of shares outstanding during the year

For diluted eamnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue 1s adjusted to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares The Group has one class of dilutive potential ordinary shares - those share options granted to
employees where the exercise price 1s less than the average market price of the company's ordinary shares during the year

Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used n the calculations are set out below

2010 2009
Eamings Welghted Per-share Eamings Welghted Per-share
average amount average amount
number number
of shares of shares
£'000 000 pence £'000 '000 pence
Basic EPS
Earnings/({losses) attributable to
ordinary shareholders 1,808 8,472 213 (87) 8,472 10
Effect of dilutive secunities
Options - a5 - - . .
Diluted EPS 1,808 8,567 211 (87} 8,472 (10}
7 Dividends
2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Final paid for the pencd ended 28 March 2009 / penod ended 29 March 2008 332 432
Intenm paid for the penod ended 27 March 2010 / period ended 28 March 2009 183 93

In addition, the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial penod ended 27 March 2010 of § 3p per share
which will absort an estimated £449,000 (2008 £339,000) of shareholders’ funds If approved by members at the Annual
General Meeting, it will be paid on 13 August 2010 to shareholders who are on the register of members at 23 July 2010 There
are no tax implications in respect of this proposed dividend

The proposed dvidend is not accounted for until it 1s formally approved at the Annual General Meeting




8 Intangible assets

Group Company
Computer Trade Emission Computer Emission
Software Secrets Allowances Total Software Allowances Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost

At 28 March 2009 3,446 340 1,143 4,929 3,446 1,143 4,588
Addions - externally generated 15 - 447 462 15 447 462
Effects of movements in foreign exchange - (18} - (18) - - -
At 27 March 2010 3,461 322 1,580 5373 3,461 1,590 5,051

Aggregate amortisation
At 28 March 2009 2,103 41 773 2917 2,103 773 2876
Charge for Pencd 296 64 - 360 296 - 206
At 27 March 2010 2,399 105 773 3277 2,398 773 3172
Net book value at 27 March 2010 1,062 217 817 2,096 1,062 817 1,879
Net book value at 28 March 2009 1,343 299 370 2,012 1,343 370 1,713
Group Company

Computer Trade Emisslon Computer Emission
Software Secrets Allowances Total Software Allowances Total
£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £'000
Cost

At 29 March 2008 3,184 251 - 3,435 3,184 - 3184
Addtions -externally generated 53 - 1,143 1,186 53 1,143 1,196
Addttions - internally generated 209 . - 209 209 - 209
Effects of movements in foreign exchange - 89 - 89 - - -
At 28 March 2009 3,446 340 1,143 4,929 3,446 1,143 4,589

Aggregate amortlsation
At 29 March 2008 1,851 12 - 1,883 1,851 - 1,851
Charge for Penod 252 29 773 1,054 252 773 1,025
At 28 March 2009 2,103 41 773 2,917 2,103 773 2876
Net book value at 28 March 2009 1,343 299 370 2,012 1,343 370 1,113
Net book value at 26 March 2008 1,333 239 - 1,572 1,333 - 1,333

The computer software capitalised principally relates to the ongoing development of the Group's Enterprise Resource Planning
and Financial systems The rematning amortisation period of the assets at the period end I1s 5 years (2009 6 years)

The trade secrets relate to certain recipes and know how acquired within the TFP division The remaining amortisation penod of

the assets at the period end i1s 8 years

The Emission Allowances relate to the allowances receved through the European Emissions Trading Scheme (EUETS) and are
valued at market value at the date of intial recognion  The allocated allowances are held throughout each compliance penod
and are used to meet the Group’s emissions obligations
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9 Property, plant and equipment

Group Freehold land Plant &
& bulldings machinery Total
£'000 £'000 £'000
Cost
Brought forward at 28 March 2009 10,079 67,959 78,038
Transfers 36 (36} -
Addstions at cost 69 1,144 1,213
Disposals (3) (2,760) (2,763)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange - (25) (25)
At 27 March 2010 10,181 66,282 76,463
Accumulated Depreclation
Brought forward at 28 March 2009 4,739 54,818 59,555
Charge for Penod 261 2,517 2,778
Disposals (4) {2,729) {2,733)
At 27 March 2010 4,996 54,604 59,600
Net book value at 28 March 2010 5,185 11,678 16,863
Net book value at 28 March 2009 5,340 13,143 18,483
Freehold land Plant &
& bulldings machinery Total
£'000 £000 £000
Cost
Brought forward at 23 March 2008 10,070 66,844 76,914
Addittons at cost 9 1,062 1,071
Transfers
Disposals - {48) {48)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange - 10 11
At 28 March 2009 10,079 67,959 78,038
Accumulated Depreciation
Brought forward at 29 March 2008 4,473 52,133 56,606
Charge for Penod 266 2,705 297
Disposals - {22) (22)
At 28 March 2009 4,738 54,816 59,565
Net book value at 28 March 2009 5,340 13,143 18,483
Net book value at 29 March 2008 5,597 14,711 20,308
Assets held under finance leases, capitalised and included in tangible fixed assets
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
Cost 1,544 1,392 1,544 1,392
Depraciation in penod 87 134 87 134
Net book value 1,457 1,258 1,457 1,258




9 Property plant and equipment

Company Freehold land Plant &
& buildings machinery Total
£'000 £000 £'000
Cost
Brought forward at 28 March 2009 853 3,479 4,332
Transfers - 286 286
Additions at cost 10 40 50
Disposals - 74 (74)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange - - -
At 27 March 2010 863 3,73 4,594
Accumulated Depreciation
Brought forward at 28 March 2009 281 1,823 2,104
Charge for Penod 12 294 306
Disposals - {74) 74
At 27 March 2010 293 2,043 2,336
Net book value at 28 March 2010 570 1,688 2,258
Net book value at 28 March 2009 872 1,656 2,228
Freehold land Plant &
& buildings machinery Total
£'000 £'000 £000
Cost
Brought forward at 29 March 2008 853 1,996 2,849
Additrtons at cost - 91 N
Transfers - 1,382 1,392
Disposals - - -
At 28 March 2009 853 3,479 4,332
Accumulated Depreclation
Brought forward at 29 March 2008 268 1,658 1,926
Charge for Period 13 165 178
Disposals - - -
At 28 March 2009 281 1,823 2,104
Net book value at 28 March 2009 572 1,656 2,228
Net book value at 26 March 2008 585 338 923

TPMS Impairment Revliew note

Grven the losses incurred by The Paper Mill Shap
Limited (“TPMS"} an impairment review has been
conducted The recaverable amount of the assets was
taken to be thelr value in use and was calculated by
reference to tho cash flows taken from the Group's
forecasts as detasled below

For the purpose of imparment testing TPMS 15 regarded
as one cash generating unt baing the lowest level at
which impairment 3 monnored for intemal management
purposes

The review derived the net present value of TPMS over a
20 year penod, with the year to 31 March 2010 being
year 1 Years 2, 3 and 4 were based on the subsidiary’s
201011 Business Plan approved by the Board with

e P L

The key assumptiena in the forecast which are

consistent with last year were

* No new store openings

+ Closure of underperforming stores on lease
termination

+ No sales pnce nflation

+ Grass margin remains constant throughout

= Nilinflation in costs, cost increases being offset by

productivity gamns
+ Worlang capirtal recovered i the final year
The revised forecast assumphons wera

+ Average sales volume per outlet grows by 9% between
years 4 and 8 and remains constant thereafter
* [ntamet sales volume grows by 47% between years 4

and 11 and remains constant thersafter

A pre-tax discount rate of 13 7% (2009 13 4%) has been

the cument economic climate in general and the lack of
confidence with which the near future can be forecast in
the retall sector «n particular Grven the magniude of the
discount rate and that the valuation stretched out over
20 years terminal values were ignored

The net book value of TPMS fixed assets are £283,000
(2009 £416 D00}

The Drectors believe that given the recent trading
performance of TPMS the above assumptions are the
most appropnate, however note that when the economy
begns to recover a different set of assumptions may be
maore appropnate

The review concluded that based upon the discount rate
used and the key assumptions apphed thers was no
requirement for an tmpairment provision
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10 Investments

() Investments in subsidiary undertakings Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £'000 £'00C £'000

At 27 March 2010 and 28 March 2009 - - 7,350 7,350

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost A list of principal subsidiary undertakings 1s given below

% holding Nature of business

Country of (of ordinary

incorporation

shares)

James Cropper Speciality Papers Limited England 100 Manufacture of coloured paper and boards
The Paper Mill Shop Company Limited England 100 Retating of paper
James Cropper Converting Limited England 100 Paper converter
Techrueal Fibre Products Limited England 100 Manufacture of high performance
wetlaid nonwovens from fibres
Tech Fibers Inc USA 100 Holding Company
Techrucal Fiber Products Inc USA 100 Sales and marketing organisation
Metal Coated Fibers Inc USA 100 Manutacturer of metal coated carbon fibres
Electro Fiber Technologies LLC USA 100 Manufacturer of metal coated fibres
Melmore Limited England 100 Dormant company
Papermilldirect com Limited England 100 Dormant company
James Cropper EBT Limited England 100 Trustee of an employee benefit trust
11 Inventories Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Materiats 5,269 4,890 - -
Work in progress 2,013 2,055 - -
Finished goods 2,913 3,477 - -
10,195 10,422 - -

Inventones are stated after a provision for impairment of £116,000 (2009 £323,000) The cost of nventones recognised as
expenses and inctuded in cost of sales for the year ended 27 March 2010 was £32,338,000 (2009 £33,895,000)

12 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Trade debtors 13,829 11,977 - -
Less Provision for impairment of recevables (340) (249) - -
Trade debtors -net 13,489 11,728 - -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 33,201 30,437
Other debtors 274 300 144 2N
Prepayments 746 808 394 404
14,509 12,836 33,739 31,132

Management believe there i1s no further credit nsk provisien required in excess of normal provision for doubtful receivables The
adoption of IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments Disclosure” has resulted in additional disclosures on credit nsk which can be viewed
in Note 15



13 Trade and other payables

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
* Restated
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Trade payables 2410 1,950 1,880 1,323
Amounis owed to group undertakings - - 13,577 10,299
Other tax and social secunty payable 430 385 100 79
Other creditors 2,088 49 1,959 450
Accruals 6,153 4,836 822 664
11,081 7,662 18,338 12,815

* 2009 Company Trade and other payables has been restated to move £10,170,000 from Note 14 Current Borrowings to
“Amounts owed to group undertakings” This has had the effect of increasing “Amounts owed to group undertakings from
£129,000 as previously reported to £10,299,000 The re-classification on intercompany rtems affects the Company for 2009 and
has had no effect on the Group's consolidated Trade and other payables

14 Loans and borrowings

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
* Restated
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Current
Intercompany loans - - - -
Bank loans and overdrafts due within one year or on demand
Unsecured bank loans 2,850 1,855 1,180 1,855
Secured finance lease 345 279 345 279
3,195 2,134 1,525 2,134
Non-current loans
Unsecured bank loans 1,104 4,049 1,104 2,284
Secured finance lease 782 905 782 205
163 1,886 4,954 1,886 3,189

* The 2009 Company Current Borrowings have been re-stated to move £10,170,000 from current borrowings to *Amounts owed
to group underiakings” within Note 13 Trade and other payables This has had the effect of reducing current borrowings from
£12,304,000 as previously reported to £2,134,000 for 2009 as reported above The Company does have intercompany loans and
these are reported in Note 12 Trade and other recetvables under “Amounts owed by group undertakings™ The re-classification
only affects the Company and has had ne effect on the Group’s consolidated borrowings

Bank loans bear interest at rates between 1% and 1 5% above UK bank base rates
The future minimum lease payments under finance leases held, together with the value of principle are as follows

Minimum Minimum

lease lease
payments Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
Group and Company 2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Within 1 year 369 24 345 3 42 279
Greater than 1 year and less than5 years 805 23 782 830 85 905

After 5 years - - - - - -
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15 Financial instruments and Risk
The Group has exposure to the following nsks from ts use of financial instruments

= Credit nisk

« Liquidity nisk |
» Currency risk

* Interest rate nsk

This note presents information about the fair value of the Group’s financial instruments, the Group’s exposure ta each of the nsks
noted and the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing nsk The Board has overall responsibility
of the nsk management strategy and coordinates activity across the Group This responsibility 15 discussed further in the
Director’s report

Exposure to the financial nsks noted, anse in the normal course of the Group’s business

15.1 Categories of non-derivative financial assets and liabilities and falr values
The farr values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group together with their book values are as follows

Group Group
Book vealue Fair value Book value Falr value
2010 2010 2009 2009
Note £000 £000 £'000 £'000
Financlal assets
Current
Trade and other receivables 12 14,509 14,509 12,836 12,836
Cash and cash squivalents 5,050 5,050 2,636 2,636
19,559 19,559 15,472 15,472
Financial liabliities
Current
Trade and other payables 13 11,081 11,081 7,662 7,662
Short term borrowings 14 3,195 3,195 2,134 2,134
14,276 14,276 9,796 9,796
Non-current Long term borrowings 14 1,886 1,886 4,954 4,954
Company Company
Book value Fair value Book value Falr value
2010 2010 2009 2009
Note £000 £'000 £'000 £000
Financlal assets
Current
Trade and other recevables 12 33,739 33,739 31,132 31,132
Cash and cash equivalents 3,420 3,420 2,054 2,054
37,159 37,159 33,186 33,186
Non current
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 10 7,350 7,350 7.350 7,350
Financial llablilities
Current
Trade and other payables 13 18,338 18,338 12,815 12,815
Short term borrowings 14 1,525 1,525 2,134 2,134
19,863 19,663 14,949 14,949
Non-current
tong term borrowings 14 1,886 1,886 3,189 3,189

The far values are stated at the reportling date and may be different from the amounts which will be actually paid or received on
settlement of the instruments The fair values are based on book values as the directors do not consider that there 1s a matenal
difference between the book values and the fair values



15.2 Credit risk

Credit nsk 1s the nsk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty faills to meet rts contractual obligations Credit
risk ansing from the Group's normal commercial actvities are controlled by indradual business units operating tn accordance
with Group policies and procedures Exposure to credit nsk arises from the potential of a customer defaulting on their invoiced
sales Some of the Group's businesses have credit Insurance in place For un-insured customers, the financial strength and
credit worthiness of the customer 1s assessed from a vanety of internal and external information, and specific creds risk controls

that match the nsk profile of those customers are applied

Trade receivables recorded by business held at the 27 March 2010 were

2010 2009
£'000 £'000
James Cropper Speciality Papers 8,887 7.321
The Paper Mill Shop 96 115
James Cropper Converting 2,459 2,136
Technical Fibre Products 2,047 2,156
13,489 11,728
The Company does not have trade receivables
The ageing of trade recevables at the reporting date was
2010 2009
£'000 £000
Not past due 13,385 11,384
Past due 0-30 days M 228
Past due 31 -60 days 52 2
Over 61 days 121 363
13,829 11,977
Less impairment (340) {249)
13,489 11,728

At the end of each reporting period a review of the provision for bad and doubtful debts 1s perdformed 1t I1s an assessment of the
potential amount of trade debtors which will not be paid by customers after the balance sheet date This amount is calculated by

reference to the age, status and nsk of each recervable

Provision for doubttul debts

2010 2009
£000 £'000
Balance at 28 March 2009/ 29 March 2008 249 69
Created/{released) during the period 190 179
{Utilsed)/credited during the period (99) 1
Balance at 27 March 2010 / 28 March 2009 340 249

Included in the outstanding trade receivables balance are debtors with an overdue amount of £144,000 (2009 £344,000) that the

Group has not provided for The directors believe that these amounts are still considered recaoverable from customers for whom

there 1s no recent history of default



Annual Report and Accounts 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

continued

15 3 Liquidity risk

Liguidity nsk 1s the nsk that the Group will have sufficient funds to meet labilittes  The Group’s policy 15 to mamntain a mix of
short, medium and long term borrowings with a number of banks  Short term flexibility 1s achieved through overdraft faciliies
In addition, 1t1s the Group's policy to maintain undrawn committed borrowing facilities in order to provide flexibility in the

management of hquidity
Current and non- current financilal liabllities

The matunity profile of the carrying ameunt of the current and non-current financial habilties, at 27 March 2010, was as follows

Finance Finance
lease lease
Debt obligations Total Debt obligations  Total
2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Group £'000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000
In less than one year 2,850 345 3,195 1,855 279 2,134
In more than one year but not more than two years 746 343 1,088 1,037 - 1,087
In more than two years but not more than five years 358 439 797 3,012 a05 3 N7
In more than five years - - - - - -
3,954 1,127 5,081 5,904 1,184 7,088
Finance Finance
lease lease
Debt obligations Total Debt obligations  Total
2010 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009
Company £'000 £000 E'000 £'000 £000 £000
In less than one year 1,180 345 1,525 1,855 279 2,134
In more than one year but not more than two years 746 343 1,089 1,037 - 1,037
In more than two years but not more than five years 358 439 797 1,247 805 2,152
In more than five years - - - - . -
2,284 1,127 3,411 4,138 1,184 5,323
Trade payables
Trade payables at the reporting date was Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£000 £'000 £000 £000
Total contractual cash flows 2410 1,950 1,880 1,323
Borrowing facilities
The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities availlable at 27 March 2010
Floating Floating
rate rate
£'000 £'000
Expinng within one year (renewable annually) 5,087 5172

The Group's expiry profile of the drawn down facilities 1s as follows

Bank Borrowings

£000

Expiry by August 2010 1,670
September 2010 143

January 2011 714

Apnl 2012 355

December 2012 286

January 2013 786




158.4 Currency risk

The Group publishes it's consolidated financial statements in sterling but also conducts business in foreign currencies As a
result it 1s subject to foreign currency exchange nsk ansing from exchange rate movements which will be reflected in the Group's
transaction costs or in the underlying foreign currency assets of its foreign operations The Group has operations in the US The
Group 1s exposed to foreign exchange nsks primanly with respect to US Dollars and the Euro  Where possible, the Group
maintains a policy of balancing sales and purchases denominated in foreign currencies  Where an imbalance remams, the
Group has also entered into certain forward exchange contracts No matenal contracts were outstanding at the year end The
management of foreign currency ts descnibed in further detalt in the Financial Review

Represented below i1s the net exposure to foreign currencies, reported in pounds sterling, and ansing from all Group activities, as
at 27 March 2010

At the 27 March 2010 the Group's exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows

usD Euro GBP Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000¢
Trade Recevables 2,445 2,754 8,290 13,489
Cash and cash equivalents 958 999 3,093 5,050
Trade Payables (63) {545) (1,802) (2,410}
Unsecured current loans (1,670) - (1,180) (2,850}
Finance lease current - - (345) (345)
Unsecured non-current loans - - {1,104) {1,104)
Finance lease non-current - - (782) (782)
Net exposure 1,670 3,208 6,170 11,048

At the 28 March 2009 the Group's exposure to foreign currency nsk was as follows

usp Euro GBP Total

£'000 £000 £000 £000
Trade Receivables 2,108 2,072 7.548 11,728
Cash and cash equivalents 305 1 2,330 2,636
Trade Payables (44) {227} (1,679) {1,950)
Unsecured current toans - - {1,855) (1,855)
Finance lease current - - (279) (279)
Unsecured non-current loans {1,765) - {2,284) {4,049)
Finance lease non-current - - (905) (905)

Net exposure 604 1,846 2,876 5,326
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15.4 Currency risk continued

At the 27 March 2010 the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows

UsD Euro GBP Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade Recewvables - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ] 790 2,629 3,420
Trade Payables - (507) (1,373) (1,880)
Unsecured current loans - - (1,180 (1,180)
Finance lease current - - (345) (345)
Unsecured non- current loans - - (1,104} (1,104)
Finance lease non-current - - (782) (782)
Net exposure 1 283 (2,155) {1,871)
At the 28 March 2009 the Company's exposure to foreign currency nsk was as follows
UsD Euro GBP Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Trade Receivables - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents {16) {(51) 2121 2,054
Trade Payables (13) {138) {1,172 (1,323)
Unsecured current Ipans - - (1,855) {1,855)
Finance lease current - - (279) (279)
Unsecured non-current loans - - (2,284) (2,284)
Finance lease non-current - - (905) (905}
Net exposure {29) (189) (4,374) {4,592)

A one percent strengthening of the pound aganst the Eurc and the US Dollar at 27 March 2010 would have had the following

impact on equity and profit by the amounts shown betow

Equity sCi
Group £'000 £'000
27 March 2010 UsD (1N (24}
27 March 2010 Euro (32) 22y
28 March 2009 usD (6} (20)
28 March 2009 Euro (18) (18)

Equity 8Ci
Company £'000 £'000
27 March 2010 usD - -
27 March 2010 Euro 3 5
28 March 2009 usb - -
28 March 2009 Euro 2 1

This sensitivity analysis 1s indicative only and it should be noted that the Group’s exposure to such market rate changes 1s
continually changing The calculations assume all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant



15.5 Interest rate risk

Interest rate nsk dernves from the Group's exposure to changes in value of an asset or habilty or future cash flow through
changes in :nterest rates The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and bank borrowings  The
Group borrows in the desired currencies at floating rates of interest and then uses interest rate caps to manage its exposure 1o
interest rate fluctuations There are no outstanding financial instruments that are designated as hedges outstanding at the year-
end The exposure Is thersfore measured on vanable rate debt and instruments The net exposure to interest rates at the
Statement of Financial Position date can be summansed as follows

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£000 £1000 £'000 £'000
Interest beanng habilities - floating
Borrowings 3,953 5,804 2,283 4,139
Finance lease 1,128 1,184 1,128 1,184
5,081 7,088 3,411 5,323
The effective mnterest rates at the balance sheet date were as follows 2010 2009
% %
Bank overdraft 18 is
Borrowings 18 21

The sensitivity analysis below assumes a 100 basis point change in interest rates from ther levels at the reporting date, with all
other variables held constant A 1% rise 1n interest rates would result in an additional £51,000 for the Group and £34,000 for the
Company in interest expense bewing incurred per year The impact of a decrease n rates would be an identical reduction in the
annual charge.

Group Company

SCl sCi
27 March 2010 51 34
28 March 2009 71 53

16 Retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of pension schemes Two of these schemes, the James Cropper plc Works Pension Plan (“Works
Scheme”) and the James Cropper plc Pension Scheme (“Staff Scheme”) are funded schemes of the defined benefit type The
Group also operates a defined contribution scheme and makes contnbutions to personal pension plans for its employees in the
USA

Pension costs for the defined contnbution scheme and personal pension contributions are as follows Group
2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Defined contribution schemes 244 225
Persanal pension contnbutions 23 14

Other pension costs totalled £228,000 (2009 £90,000) and represent Iife assurance charges and government pension protection
fund levies

Defined benefit plans

The most recent actuanal valuations of the Staff Scheme and the Works Scheme have been updated to 27 March 2010 by
qualified independent actuanes The major assumptions used by the actuary for each scheme were as noted below The
expected return on plan assets 1s calculated by using a weighted average across each category of asset

Staff Scheme Works Scheme
2010 2009 2010 2009
% % % %
Rats of increase in pensionable salanes 45 41 45 41
Rate of increase of pensions in payment and deferred 38 35 38 35
Discount rate 56 67 56 67
Inflation assumption 37 31 a7 31

Expected return on plan assets 68 67 69 67
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16 Retirement benefits continued

In respect of mortality for the Works members the PA92 series table has been used with the medium cohort projections applied,
and a plus three year age rating For the Staff members the PNADO tables with a 120% rating has been used with the long
cohort projections and a 1% underpin  The different tables and methods applied to each Scheme reflect the different
characternstics of the members within these Schemes

The long-term expected rate of return on cash 1s determined by reference to bank base rates at the balance sheet dates The
long-term expected return on bonds 1s determined by reference to UK long dated govermment and corporate bond yields at the
balance sheset date The long-term expected rate of return on equities 1s based on the rate of return on bonds with an allowance
for out-performance

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are determined as follows

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Present value of scheme habilites {78,130) (57,333) (60,335) (66,733) {66,007)
Farr value of plan assets 63,950 48,257 58,531 60,581 55,692
Net iability recogrised in the SFP {14,180} {8,076} {1,804) {6,152 {10,315)

The fair value of the plan assets compnises the following categories of asset in the stated proportions

Staff Scheme Works Scheme
2010 2008 2010 2009
% % Y% %
Equities 53 45 57 55
Bonds 15 18 39 36
Property - . _ 1
Cash 1 1 4 8
Annuities 6 8 - -
Corporate Bonds 25 28 - -
The pension plan assets include investments in the shares of the Company with a farr value of £580,000 (2009 £345,000)
The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows 2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Current service cost 826 1,300
Total included within employee benefit costs 826 1,300
Expected return on plan assets {3,202} (4,179)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 3,828 3,953
Total included within interest 626 {226)
Total 1,452 1,074
Analysis of the movement in the Statement of Financial Position Hability
2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Brought forward (9,076) (1,804)
Total expense as above (1,452) (1,074)
Contnbutions paid 1,197 1,536
Actuanial losses recogrused in SCI (4,849) {(7,734)
At 27 March 2010 (14,180) {9,076)

The actual return on plan assets was £15,746,000 (2009 negative £10,539,000} The Company expects to pay £774,000 (2009
£586,000) 1n contributions to the Staff Scheme and £987,000 {2009 £802,000) in contributions to the Works Scheme in the next
financial period

The cumulative amount of gains/losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income since the adoption of IAS 19 are
losses of £2,795,000 (2009 gains of £2,054 000)



Analysis of the movement In the defined benefit obligation {DBO} and scheme assets

Works Scheme Staff Scheme Works Scheme Staff Scheme
Assets DBO Assets DBO Asseis DBO Assels DBO

2010 2016 2010 2010 2009 2009 2009 200%
£000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000

Brought forward 24,467 (30,172) 23,790 (27,161) 29,509 (31,302) 29,022 (29,033)
Expected return on assets 1,622 - 1,580 - 297 - 1,982 -
Current service costs - (608) - (218) - {869) - (431)
Benefits paid {1.014) 1,014 (790) 790 {1,096) 1,096 (797} 797
Contributions by ptan participants 331 (331) 223 (223) 403 {403} 219 (219)
Employer contributions 657 - 540 - 916 . 620 -
Interest cost - (2019 - (1,809) - (2,056} - (1,897)
Actuanal gains/(losses) 7,109 (9,935) 5,435 (7.458) (7,462) 3,362 (7,256) 3,622
At 27 March 2010 / 28 March 2009 33,172 (42,051} 30,778 (36,079) 24,467 (30,172) 23,790 (27,161)

Experlence adjustments
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Ansing on plan assets 12,544 (14,718} (5,780) 763 6,786
Percentage of scheme agsets 196% (305%) {(99%) 13% 122%
Asising on plan habilihes (15} 152 3.2: {204y 1,983
Percentage of scheme liabilities - 03% 55% 03% 30%
17 Deterred taxation
The movement on the deferred tax account I1s shown below
Group Company

2010 2008 2010 2009

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 28 March 2009 (1,588) (3,291) 1,993 19
Deferred tax on actuanal gains on retirement liabilmes 1,358 2,166 1,358 2,165
SCl credit/{charge) 419 {463) 111 (191)
Rate change - - - -
Other - - - -
At 27 March 2010 189 (1,588) 3,462 1,993

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets because it 1s
probable that these assets will be recovered

No deferred tax I1s recognised on the un-remitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries

Based on the combined distnbutable reserves in the US Companies of (£85,000) (2009 surplus £74,000), tax at 28% of £24,000
could be receivable, before any application for double tax relief, which could be expected 1o reduce the UK hability to ni
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17 Deferred taxation continued

Deferred tax liabilities Accelerated
capital
allowances Other Total
£000 £'000 £000
At 28 March 2009 {4,000} {129) {4,129}
SCl credit/(chargs) 449 (101) 348
At 27 March 2010 (3,551) {230) (3,781)
Deferred tax assets Penslon Total
£'000 £'000
At 28 March 2008 2,541 2,541
Defarred tax on actuanal gains on retirement liabilities 1,358 1,358
Deterred tax on difference between contribution paid and net pension cost to the SCI 71 4l
At 27 March 2010 3,970 3,970
Total
£000
Net deferred tax asset 189
18 Called up equity share capital
Group and Company
2010 2009
Authorised £'000 £000
10,000,000 (2009 10,000,000) ordinary shares of 25p each 2,500 2,500
Issued and fully paid
Number of £'000
Ordinary shares
At 28 March 2009 8,472,368 2,118
Issued during the period - -
At 27 March 2010 8,472,368 2,118

Potentlal Issue of ordinary shares

Under the James Cropper plc Executive Share Optian Scheme, options were outstanding at 27 March 2010 in respect of the

following
Year of grant Exercise price Exercise penod 2010 2009
)] Number Number
1999 2059 December 2002 to December 2009 - 18,900
2000 2615 August 2003 to August 2010 60,000 €0,000
2001 2065 June 2004 to June 2011 90,000 90,000
150,000 168,900

There were no share options exercised in the period and therefore there were no gains made by directors on the exercise of

share options

For share options outstanding at the end of the penod, the range of exercise prices was 208 5p to 261 Sp, and the weighted

average contractual ife was 7 years




Under the Group's long-term incentive plan for executive directors and senior executives, such individuals hold rights over
ordinary shares that may result in the 1ssue of up to 312,000 25p ordinary shares by 2013 (2009 216,000 25p ordinary shares by
2012) There were no share options exercised in the peniod (2009 no options were exercised)

The Save As You Earn (SAYE) schemes were introduced in August 2007 and August 2009 respectively and each run for erther a
three or five year perod

Options were valued using a Black-Scholes option pncing model The fair value per optton and assumptions used in the
calculation are as follows

Aug-07 Aug-07 Aug-09 Aug-09

3 year 5 year 3 year 5 year

scheme scheme scheme scheme

Fair value per option 62p 69p 23p 23p
Date of grant 21 Aug 07 21 Aug 07 18 Aug 09 18 Aug 09
Exercise Price 191p 191p 85p 85p
Market Price at date of grant 235p 235p 112p 112p
Volatility 22% 22% 27% 27%
Net dvidend yield 3% 3% 6% 6%
Term of option 3 25 years 5 25 years 3 25 years 6 26 years
Risk free rate of interest 52% 52% 19% 28%

During the penod no options were exercised (2003 no options were exercised)

19 Reserves, shareholders's funds and changes in sharehalders' equity

Group Share Share Translation Retained
capital premium reserve earnings Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 28 March 2009 2,118 573 532 16,951 20,174
Profit for the penod - - - 1,808 1,808
Exchange differences - - (267) - (267)
Dvidends paid - - - (515) (515)
Share based payment charge - - - 102 102
Actuanal gains on retirement benefit
habilities (net of deferred tax) - - - (3,491) (3,491}
At 27 March 2010 2,118 573 265 14,855 17,811
Share Share Translation Retained
capital premium reserve aarnings Total
£000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
At 29 March 2008 2,118 573 22 22,948 25,661
Loss for the period - - - {87) {87)
Exchange differences - - 510 36 546
Dividends pad - - - (525} (525)
Share based payment charge - - - 147 147

Actuanal gains on retirement benefit
habilities {net of deferred tax) - - - (5,568) {5,568)

At 28 March 2009 2,118 573 532 16,851 20,174
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19 Reserves, shareholders's funds and changes in shareholders' equity continued

Company Share Share Retained
capital premium earnings Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
At 28 March 2009 2,118 5§73 16,572 19,263
Profit for the pencd - - 872 872
Dnidends paid - - {525) (525)
Share based payment charge - - 102 102
Actuanal gains on retirement benefit
habilties {net of deferred tax) - - (3,491) (3,481)
At 27 March 2010 2,118 573 13,530 16,221

Share Share Retained

caprtal premium earnings Total

£'000 £'000 £'0C0 £'000
At 29 March 2008 2,118 573 20,112 22,803
Profit for the penod - - 2,406 2,406
Dvidends paid - - {525} (525)
Share based payment charge - - 147 147
Actuanal gains on retirement benefit
habilihes {net of deferred tax) - - {5,568) (5,568)
At 28 March 2009 2,118 573 16,572 19,263

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has not presented its own Statement of Comprehensive

Income

The Company’s profit for the financial period i1s disclosed above

20 Employees and directors
Staff costs during the period

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

Note £'000 £000 £000 £000

Wages and salarnes 17,118 15,589 2,716 1,955
Social Securty costs 1,416 1,361 216 198
Pension costs 16 1,375 1,629 462 690
19,909 18,579 3,394 2,843
Own labour capitalised - (368) - (368)
19,909 18,211 3,394 2,475




The average monthly number of people (including executive directors) employed in the Group dunng the year, analysed by

division was as follows

2010 2009
Number Number
James Cropper Speciality Papers 294 288
The Paper Mill Shop 125 135
James Cropper Canverting 54 54
Technical Fibre Products ]| 93
James Cropper plc company &1 59
625 629
Key management compensation
2010 2009
£000 £'000
Salaries and short term benefits 1,072 930
Post-employment benefits 98 97
Shared based payments 74 106
1,244 1,193
21 Commitments under operating leases
Group 2010 2010 2009 2009
Property Plant & Property Plant &
machinery machinery
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expinng
Within one year 141 - 48 43
Later than one year and less than five years 2,017 1,431 2,013 1,663
After five years 545 - 2227 -
2,703 1,431 4,288 1,706
Company 2010 2010 2009 2009
Property Plant & Property Plant &
machinery machinery
£'000 £000 £'000 £000
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases expiring
Later than one year and less than five years - §72 - 479
- 572 . 479
22 Capltal commitments
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Contracts placed for future capital expenditure not 556 372 - 8

provided in the financial statements

23 Contingent llabilities

There were no conbngent iabilties at the pencd end for the Group  The Company 1s included in a cross guarantee between

itself and its subsidianes
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24 Related party fransactions

Group
The Group has taken advantage of the exemption not to disclose intra-group transactions that are eliminated on conschdation

Company

The Company pays £35,000 {2009 £35,000) annually to Mr J A Cropper for the use of reservorrs to supply water to the factory
premises

The contract i1s based on a twenty year repainng lease with rent reviews every five years  The rent1s negotiated through
independent adwvisers representing each party The Company paid £1,700 (2009 £10,000} to Wilks & Partners, a company in
which David R Wilks, {a non executive director for James Cropper plc), 1s a director, in the penod for consultancy services
relating to stratagic development programmes

The Company also has the following transactions with related entities

2010 Loans and
net inter-

Management Recelvable / company

Sales charges (Payable) funding

£'000 £000 £'000 £'000

James Cropper Specialty Papers Limited 32,438 3,090 3,670 7,462
The Paper Mill Shop Company Limited 72 115 {100} 1,075
James Cropper Converting Uimited 7,289 605 786 4,934
Technical Fibre Products Limited 436 757 £96 833
James Cropper EBT Limited - - - 368
40,235 4,567 4,952 14,672

2009 Loans and
net inter-

Management Receivable / company
Sales charges (Payable) funding

£'000 £'000 £'000 £000
James Cropper Specialty Papers Limited 34,989 3,037 2,799 8,449
The Paper Mill Shop Company Limited 54 25 (129) 1,315
James Cropper Converting Lirmited 7.444 597 230 4,500
Technical Fibre Products Limited 401 752 225 2,381
James Cropper EBT Limited - - - 368

42,888 4,411 3,125 17,013




2009 - 2010 SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Reporting

Intenm Results announced and sent to

Ordinary Shareholders 17 November 2009
Final results announced 22 June 2010
Annual Report 1ssued by 7 July 2010

Annual General Meeting -
at The Bryce Institute, Burneside, Kendal

Waednesday 28 July 2010 at 11 0am

Dividends on Ordinary Shares

Interim dvidend pad on 15 January 2010 to Ordinary Shareholders registered on 18 December 2009
Final dvidend to be paid on 13 August 2010 to Ordinary Shareholders registered on 23 July 2010

Registrars

Capita Registrars
Northern House
Woodsome Park

Fenay Bndge
Huddersfield

HD8 0GA

Tel 0871 664 0300

www capltaregistrars com
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice 1s hersby given that the one hundred and twenty-first
Annual General Meeting of James Cropper plc (the
“Company”} will be held at The Bryce Institute, Burneside,
Kendal, Cumbna at 11 00am on Wednesday 28 July 2010 to
consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions of
which resolutions 1 to 10, 13 and 14 are being proposed as
ordinary resolutions and resolutions 11 and 12 as special
resolutions -

1

10

To receve and consider the statement of accounts and
reports of the directors and the auditors for the 52 weeks
ended 27 March 2010

To declare a final dwvidend of 5 3p per share in respect of
the ordinary shares in the Company payable on 13
August 2010 to all ordinary shareholders on the register
at the close of business on 23 July 2010

To re-elect James A Cropper as a director of the
Company

To re-elect Mark A J Cropper as a director of the
Company

To re-elect George T Quayle as a director of the
Company

To re-elect James E Sharp as a director of the Company

To re-appoint KPMG Audit Plc as auditors to hold office
from the conclusion of the meeting until the next Annual
General Mesting

To authonise the directors to agree the remuneration of
the auditors of the Company

To consider and approve the directors’ remuneration
report for the 52 weeks ended 27 March 2010

That the directors be authonised for the purpose of
Section 551 of the Compames Act 2008 to allot shares In
the Company or grant nghts to subscribe for, or to
convert any secunty into, shares in the Company up to
an aggregate nominal amount of £381,808 provided
that -

10 1 except as provided in paragraph 10 2 below this
authonty shall expire at the conclusion of the next
Annual General Meeting of the Company after the
passing of thus resolution, or 15 months from the
date of this resolution (whichever I1s earlier) but may
be previously revoked or vared by an ordinary
resolution of the Company, and

10 2 the Company may before such expiry make an offer
or agreement which would or might require the
allotment of shares in the Company or the grant of
rights to subscnbe for, or to convert any secunty
into, shares in the Company after such expiry and
the directors may allot shares in the Company, or
grant nghts to subscnbe for, or convert any secunty
into, shares in the Company, in pursuance of such
offer or agreement notwithstanding that the authority
conferred by this resclution has expired

1

That subject to the passing of and pursuant to the
general authority conferred by the resolution numbered
10 in the notice convening this meeting the directors be
empowered pursuant to Section 570 of the Comparies
Act 2006 (the "Act”) to allot equity securities {as defined
in Section 560 of the Act) for cash, either pursuant to the
authority so conferred or where the equity securities are
held by the Company as treasury shares {(within the
meaning of Section 724(5) of the Act), as If Section 560
of the Act did not apply to any such allotment, provided
that this power shall be imited to -

11 1 the allotment of equity secunties in connection with
any rights or other pre-emptive 1ssue in favour of the
ordinary shareholders where the equity secunties
respectively attnbutable to the interests of all
ordinary shareholders are proportionate {as nearly
as may be) to the respective numbers of ordinary
shares held by them on a fixed record date {but
subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as
the directors may deem necessary or expedtent In
relation to fractional entittements or any legal or
practical problems under the laws of any terntory or
the requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange in any terrtory or any other matter
whatsoever), and

11 2 otherwise than pursuant to paragraph {a) of this
resolution, the allotment of equity securities up to an
aggregate nominal amount of £211,810,

and shall expire on the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meating of the Company after the passing of this
resolution or 15 months from the date of this resalution
(whichever 1s earlier) except that the Company may
before such expiry make an offer or agreement which
would or might require equity securities to be allotted
after such expiry and the directors may allot equity
securhes in pursuance of any such offer or agreement as
if the power conferred by this resolution had not expired



12 That the Company be generally and uncondtionatly 14  That the rules of the James Cropper plc Savings-related
authonised for the purposes of Section 701 of the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 2
Companies Act 2006 (“the Act”} 1o make market August 2000 be amended by the deletion of the following
purchases (within the meaning of Section 693(4} of the wording Inrule 11 10;

Act) on the London Stock Exchange of ordinary shares of
25p each in the capital of the Company either for
cancellation or to hold as treasury shares (within the
meaning of Section 724(5) of the Act) provided that -

12 1 the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares ~ BY order of the Board
hereby authonsed to be purchased i1s 1,270,855,

12 2 the maximum number of shares held in treasury will
never exceed 10% of the 1ssued share capital of the

‘upon the 10th Anniversary of the Adoption Dats or at any
earlier time’

Company, .
12 3 the minimum price which may be paid for such Seclg?;er:
shares 13 25p per ordinary share,
S July 2010

12 4 the maxamum pnice which may be paid for such
crdinary shares shall not be more than 5% above
the average of the market values for a ordinary Regtstered office
share as derived from the AlM appendix to the

London Stock Exchange's Daity Official List for the Burneside Mills

five business days immediately preceding the date Kendal
Cumbna
on which the ordinary shares are purchased, LAD 6PZ

12 5 unless previously renewad, varied or revoked, the
authority hereby conferred shall expire at the
conclusion of the Company's next Annual General
Meeting or 15 months from the date of this

Registered n England and Wales No 30226
resolution {whichever I1s earlier), and

12 6 the Company may make a contract or contracts to
purchase ordinary shares under the authority
conferred by this resolution pnor to the expiry of
such authority which will or may be executed wholly
or partly after the expiry of such authority and may
make a purchase of ordinary shares in pursuance of
any such confract or contracts

13  That the Company and all companies that are or becoma
its subsidianes at any time dunng the penod for which
this resolution 1s effective are hereby authonsed to -

13 1 make polihical donations to political parhes and/or to
independent election candidates,

13 2 make political donations to political organisations
other than political parties, and

13 3 incur polibeal expenditure

during the penod commencing on the date of the
passing of this resolution and ending on the earlier of
fifteen months from that date and the date of next year's
annual general meeting provided that any such donaticn
and expenditure made by the Company and any
subsidiary do not in aggregate exceed £25,000

For the purposes of this resolution, the terms “political
donations” “political parties”, “independent election
candidates”, “political organisation” and “political
expenditure” have the meanings set out in Sections 363
to 365 of the Companies Act 2006
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continued

Notes

The following notes explain your general nghts as a
shareholder and your nght to attend and vote at this meeting
or to appoint someone else to vete on your behalf

7

1 Only those members registered in the Register of
Members of the Company as at 6 00pm on 26 July 2010
shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
convened above in respect of the number of shares
registered in therr namas at that tme

A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
convened by the above notice 1s entitled to appoint
another person as his proxy to exercise all or any of his
rights to attend and to speak and vote at a meeting of the
Company Any such member may appoint more than one
proxy provided that each proxy s appointed to exercise
the nghts attached to a different share or shares held by
such member You may not appoint more than one proxy
to exercise rights attached to any one share To appoint
more than one proxy, please photocopy the form of proxy
and indicate in the box next to the proxy's name the
numbser of shares n relation to which he or she is
authonsed to act as your proxy Please also indicate by
ticking the box prowided if the proxy instruction 1s one of
multiple instructions being given All forms must bse signed
and should be returned together in the same envelope A
proxy need not be a member of the Company Appointing
a proxy will not prevent a shareholder from attending in
person and voting at the meeting if you wish your proxy to
speak on your behalf at the meeting you will need to
appoint your own choice of proxy {not the Chairman of the
meeting) and give your instructions directly to that person

3 Aform of appointment of proxy 1s enclosed Hif you return
more than one proxy appointment, that receved last by the
registrar before the latest ime for the receipt of proxies will
take precedence

The ferm of proxy includes a vote withheld option Please
note that a vote withheld 1s not a vote in law and will not be
counted In the calculation of the proportion of votes for
and aganst any particular resolution

The appointment of a proxy and the onginal or duly
certified copy of the power of attorney or other authority (if
any) under which it s signed or authenticated should be
deposited with the Company's registrar at the address
shown on the proxy form not later than 11 00am on 26 July
2010 or 48 hours before the time for holding any
adjourned meeting

10

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies
through the CREST electronic proxy appomntment service
may do $0 by using the procedures descnbed in the
CREST Manual CREST Personal Members or other
CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members
who have appomted a service provider(s), should refer to
thewr CREST spensor or voting service provider(s), who will
be able to take the approprate action on their behalf

1

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using

the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST

message (a “CREST Proxy Instructron”) must be properly

authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland

Limited's specifications, and must contain the information

required for such instruction, as descnbed in the CREST

Manual {available via www suroclear com/CREST) The

message, regardless of whether it constitutes the

appointment of a proxy or 18 an amendment to the

instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in

order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be receved by

the 1ssuer’s agent {ID RA10 no later than 48 hours before

the time set for the Meeting For this purpose, the time of

receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the

time stamp applied to the message by the CREST

Application Host) from which the issuer’s agent 1s able to |
retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner
prescribed by CREST After this time any change of
instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should
be communicated to the appomntee through other means

CREST members and, where applicable, therr CREST
sponsors, or voting service providers should note that
Eurociear UK & Ireland Limited does not make available
special procedures in CREST for any particular message
Normal system tirmings and imrations will, therefore, apply i
in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions It 1s the
responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or,
if the CREST member 1s a CREST personal member, or
sponsored member, or has appomnted a voting service
provider, to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s) take(s)) such acton as shall be
necessary to ensure that a message 1s transmitted by
means of the CREST system by any particular time In this
connection, CREST members and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors aor voting system providers are referred,
In particular, to those Sections of the CREST Manual
concerning practical imitatons of the CREST system and
imings

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy
Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation
35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securitties Regulations 2001

As at 9 00am on 1 June 2010, being the last practicable
day prior to the publication of this notice, the Company’s
1ssued share capital compnsed 8,472,368 ordinary sharas
of 25p each Each ordinary share carnes the right to one
vote at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore,
the total number of voting nghts in the Company as at

9 00am on 1 June 2010, being the last practicable date
prior to the publication of this notice I1s 8,472,368

Copies of the contracts of service for directors, the rules of
the Jamses Cropper plc Savings-related Option Scheme,
and a statement of directors’ interests are available for
inspection during normal business hours at the registerad
office of the Company and they may be inspected at the
place of the Annual General Meeting for at least 15
minutes prior to the meeting and at the mesting
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